The effects of selenium on methylmercury toxicity in zebrafish

Samuel J. Penglase



Dissertation for the degree philosophiae doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

Dissertation date: 31st October 2014

Scientific environment

This study was performed between 2010 and 2014 at the National Institute of Nutrition and Seafood Research (NIFES), Norway. The PhD position was funded by the Department of Biology, University of Bergen (UoB), Norway. The project was funded by UoB, and NIFES care of the Norwegian Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries.

All scientific data were obtained in accordance with national legislation, and where required, approved by the Norwegian Animal Research Committee (FDU, application number 4391).



NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF NUTRITION AND SEAFOOD RESEARCH



Acknowledgements

I would like to first thank my supervisors. Kristin Hamre and Ståle Ellingsen were both great supervisors. Among others Kristin's reliability in terms of scientific input and her encouragement of free thought laid the foundation for this PhD. Ståle Ellingsen's attention to detail was much appreciated, and greatly improved the articles published in this thesis.

Numerous colleagues have been with me on this journey. The current pose of the embryo and larvae group contains good hard working banjo playing southern folk, with names like Øystein Sæle (aka "the oyster"), Kai Lie (aka "the Rockstar"), Kaja Skjærven (aka "lets change the topic"), Mari Moren (aka "El Hefe"), Anne-Catrin Adam (aka "new fish"), Igo Guimaraes (aka "the milk can man"). Sadly, homies have also fallen along the way. Sofie Remø left for NB5, Matt Hawkyard left for hope and change, Irene left, came back, left again, came back again etc., OJ went south, and Mum and Dad never called back. Kudos to my man Andreas Nordgreen, for convincing me to do a PhD.

A wealth of people at NIFES help to create an excellent working environment and pleasant atmosphere. Originally it was never my intention to go through the hassle of a PhD. Down under, you tell someone you're doing a PhD it's a different way of saying I can't get a real job. Then I thought about my options, which didn't take that long, and I thought about the NIFES facility. The conclusion was that NIFES has an amazing array of scientific equipment, backed up with competent staff that know how to use the equipment, and an opportunity to have this combination available to pursue scientific questions is a rare find. Many people have gone out of their way to help me and to whom I would like to extend a big thank you; Berit Solli on the ICP-MS; Eva Mykkeltvedt, Hui-Shan Tung and Natalia Larsen for nucleic acid analyses; Jacob Wessels and Leikny Fjeldstad for enzyme analyses; Øyvind Reinshol for fish husbandry; Pål Olsvik, Kåre Julshamn, Rune Waagbø, Heidi Amlund, Mark Berntssen, Erik-Jan Lock, Josef Rasinger and Robin Ørnsrud for scientific guidance in one form or another.

Thank you to UiB for the funding. Also to the Norwegian system, whereby education is free for all, made the foundations of this PhD (my initial masters) possible (and is probably a good idea irrespective of this).

My family has been indispensable for this PhD. Sofia, Alessa and Laila were with me at every thought, and I don't think I would have finished this thesis without them. To contradict myself, my parents did call back, and the drive they installed in me has also been fundamental for my completion of this PhD. Kudos sis for the recent visit, watch those roos.

Abstract

Methylmercury (MeHg) is a potent neurotoxicant that remains a global concern. Selenium (Se) is an important micronutrient which is able to decrease MeHg toxicity, although the underlying mechanisms for this protection remain unclear. One hypothesis is that Se-mediated protection against MeHg toxicity occurs due to the function of Se containing proteins, termed selenoproteins. Many selenoproteins play key roles in maintaining both cellular and extracellular redox balance, and it is believed that via these roles, selenoproteins reduce MeHg-induced oxidative stress. A second hypothesis is that MeHg toxicity reduces the availability of Se for selenoprotein synthesis. Additional Se can thus be beneficial as it increases the availability of Se for selenoprotein production, reducing MeHg-induced disruption of the selenoproteome. These two hypotheses are linked, as they share a common theme suggesting that functional selenoproteins are key factors in reducing MeHg toxicity.

The aim of this thesis was to explore how dietary Se reduces MeHg toxicity. As Se status affects MeHg toxicity, an initial study aimed to identify the Se requirements of zebrafish (Paper I). Juvenile zebrafish were fed diets with increasing levels of Se. The Se requirements were then assessed primarily from the response of growth and the mRNA expression and activity of a key Se-dependent protein, glutathione peroxidase (GPX). The second step of this thesis was to assess how changes in Se status affect MeHg induced toxicity both at the whole organism level (Paper II) and then at the molecular level, with a focus on the mRNA expression of selenoprotein coding genes (Paper III). To do this, female zebrafish were exposed to requirement (from Paper I) or elevated levels of dietary Se alone or in combination with elevated levels of dietary MeHg in a 2×2 factorial experimental design. These diets were fed to fish (F₀) generation) for a five month period, during which the fish were crossed against untreated male fish to produce a maternal transfer exposed F_1 generation. The effects of these diets on growth, survival, element composition and reproductive outcomes were explored in the adult generation (**Paper II**). The F_1 generation were analysed during the embryonic stage to examine the underlying mechanisms of the Se×MeHg interactions on the expression of selenoprotein coding genes during development

(**Paper III**). The 30 selenoprotein coding genes analysed cover most of the selenoprotein families; including several members of the *gpx*, *thioredoxin reductase*, *iodothyronine deiodinase* and *methionine sulfoxide reductase* families, along with *selenophosphate synthetase 2, selenoprotein h, j-p, t, w, 15, fep15* and *fam213aa*. As functional selenoprotein levels determine the Se-mediated antioxidant response, and the primary site of MeHg toxicity is the central nervous system, the total GPX activity and locomotor activity were also analysed in the F₁ generation.

The Se requirements of zebrafish were found to be 0.3 mg Se/kg DM based on growth, similar to other fish species. Meanwhile, maximum GPX activity did not correspond to zebrafish Se requirements, a controversial finding (Paper I). Elevated dietary Se reduced MeHg-induced decreases in growth and survival of adult fish, as found previously for vertebrates. However, elevated Se and MeHg had a synergistic negative affect on reproductive outcomes, such as embryo survival (Paper II), a novel finding in fish. Analyses of the mRNA expressions of selenoprotein coding genes demonstrated that only a subset of these genes were affected by MeHg. The affected genes coded for selenoproteins primarily from antioxidant pathways, and were downregulated by elevated MeHg. Meanwhile, MeHg also decreased GPX activity and induced larval hypoactivity. Elevated Se prevented the MeHg-induced downregulation for most of the affected genes. However, elevated Se only partially prevented the MeHg-induced decreases in GPX activity and larval locomotor activity (Paper III). As MeHg primarily affected antioxidant selenoproteins, which are also affected by Se deficiency, the response of selenoproteins to Se deficiency were then analysed in zebrafish embryos from parents fed diets deficient or replete in Se (Thesis Supp. Material). Considerable overlap was observed between the antioxidant selenoprotein genes downregulated by Se deficiency and those downregulated by MeHg toxicity. Overall mRNA downregulation of antioxidant selenoprotein genes by both MeHg toxicity and Se deficiency were prevented by elevating the Se status, suggesting that MeHg regulates the selenotranscriptome mainly via Se status, and that Se deficiency is a factor in MeHg toxicity.

List of publications

- Paper I Penglase, S., Hamre, K., Rasinger, J.D., Ellingsen, S., 2014. Selenium status affects selenoprotein expression, reproduction, and F1 generation locomotor activity in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). British Journal of Nutrition. 111, 1918-1931.
- Paper II Penglase, S., Hamre, K., Ellingsen, S., 2014. Selenium and mercury have a synergistic negative effect on fish reproduction. *Aquatic Toxicology*. 149, 16-24.
- Paper III Penglase, S., Hamre, K., Ellingsen, S., 2014. Selenium prevents downregulation of antioxidant selenoprotein genes by methylmercury. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. 75, 95-104.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SCI	ENT	IFIC ENVIRONMENT	3
ACF	KNO	WLEDGEMENTS	4
ABS	TRA	ACT	6
LIST	ГОІ	F PUBLICATIONS	8
BAC	CKG	ROUND	.11
1	.1	METHYLMERCURY IS AN ENVIRONMENTAL CONTAMINANT OF GLOBAL CONCERN	.11
1	.2	UPTAKE AND DISTRIBUTION OF METHYLMERCURY IN THE BODY	.13
1	.3	METHYLMERCURY TOXICITY TARGETS THE DEVELOPING NERVOUS SYSTEM.	.13
1	.4	THE BIOLOGICAL INTERACTIONS UNDERLYING METHYLMERCURY TOXICITY.	.14
1 C	.4.1 ОМР	METHYLMERCURY-INDUCED DISRUPTION OF PROTEINS AND SMALL MOLECULAR WEIGHT	г 14
1 В	.4.2 101.0	FACTORS AFFECTING THE INTERACTIONS BETWEEN SELENIUM, SULFUR AND METHYLMEI	RCURY IN 16
1	.4.3	SELENIUM'S ANTAGONISM OF METHYLMERCURY TOXICITY.	.18
1	.5	SELENIUM AS AN ESSENTIAL NUTRIENT	20
1	.6	VERTEBRATE SELENOGENOMES	.22
1	.7	ZEBRAFISH AS A MODEL FOR STUDYING SELENOPROTEINS	.24
1	.8	SELENOPROTEIN SYNTHESIS	25
1	.9	SELENIUM TOXICITY TARGETS THE EMBRYONIC AND LARVAL STAGES IN FISH	.27
STU	DY	AIMS	.30
RES	ULI	ΓS SUMMARY	.32
2	.1	SELENOGENE EXPRESSION IN RESPONSE TO SELENIUM AND/OR METHYLMERCURY STATUS	.32
2	.2	THE INTERACTIVE EFFECTS OF METHYLMERCURY AND SELENIUM ARE LIFE STAGE DEPENDENT	NT
			.33
DIS	CUS	SION	.35
3	.1	A COMPARISON OF GLUTATHIONE PEROXIDASE ACTIVITY AS A BIOMARKER FOR SELENIUM	
R	EQUI	IREMENTS IN FISH VERSUS THE RODENT MODEL	35

3.2 FISH SELENIUM REQUIREMENTS CHANGE WITH AGE				
3.2.1 SELENIUM STATUS AND REPRODUCTION				
3.2.2 SELENIUM STATUS AND LARVAL LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY				
3.3 Selenium and methylmercury have a synergistic negative effect on oviparous vertebrate reproduction				
3.4 SELENOGENE REGULATION				
3.4.1 Selenium does not completely prevent methylmercury induced disruption of the selenotranscriptome				
3.4.2 ZEBRAFISH SELENOGENES AND NONSENSE-MEDIATED DECAY				
3.4.3 The glutathione peroxidase system in Fish				
CONCLUSIONS				
FUTURE PERSPECTIVES				
REFERENCES				
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL				
1.1 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL BACKGROUND				
1.2 Supplementary results and discussion				
PAPERS I – III				

Background

1.1 Methylmercury is an environmental contaminant of global concern

Inorganic mercury (Hg) occurs ubiquitously and naturally in the environment. However, anthropogenic activities have increased both background levels of Hg in the biosphere, and created localised areas that are heavily contaminated with Hg (Driscoll et al., 2013). In anaerobic environments, such as those found in marine and fresh water sediments, Hg is methylated to methylmercury (MeHg) by sulphate and iron reducing bacteria (Driscoll et al., 2013). From this microbial starting point, MeHg readily bioaccumulates up the food chain (Fig. 1), with increased levels found at each trophic level (Driscoll et al., 2013). As such, all seafood contains some MeHg, while apex predators; such as marine mammals, sharks and swordfish; generally have the highest (>0.5 mg Hg/kg DM) MeHg levels (Wagemann et al., 1998; Mahaffey, 2004).

Concern over MeHg originated chiefly from a tragic MeHg poisoning epidemic that occurred in the 1950's, referred to as Minamata disease. This localised epidemic occurred in the seafood consuming human populations around Minamata bay, Japan (McAlpine and Araki, 1958). The bay was industrially contaminated with Hg, which resulted in seafood containing MeHg levels up to 170 fold higher than in uncontaminated areas (Hachiya, 2012). More recently, MeHg toxicity in seafood eating human populations as a consequence of localised Hg anthropogenic contamination events have been identified in Brazil (Berzas Nevado et al., 2010; Lemire et al., 2011; Fillion et al., 2013) and Sicily (Ausili et al., 2008) among others. Additionally, MeHg toxicity cases have been identified in the Faroe Islands, from consumption of naturally MeHg-contaminated whale meat (Rice, 2000; Murata et al., 2004).

However, seafood also contains elevated levels of important nutrients, such as long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (e.g. DHA and EPA), elements (e.g. selenium and iodine) and vitamins (e.g. A and D) that can have positive effects on health (Berry and Ralston, 2008; EFSA, 2014). The human population of Seychelles has an elevated

MeHg status due to high seafood consumption, but the beneficial nutrients in the seafood appear to negate any MeHg-induced toxic effects (Wijngaarden et al., 2012). In contrast, other findings suggest that the negative effects of MeHg may actually be more widespread than currently determined and include numerous seafood consuming human populations with more moderate MeHg intakes (Karagas et al., 2012). The uncertainty surrounding the MeHg toxicity threshold level in seafood has led to conflicting views regarding seafood safety and on the benefits of seafood consumption, in both the scientific and public arena (Mahaffey, 2004). Currently, Hg remains listed by the World Health Organisation (WHO) as one of the 10 chemicals of major public health concern (WHO, 2010). Recently, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) decreased its recommended tolerable weekly intake (TWI) levels for MeHg from 1.6 to 1.3 µg Hg/kg body weight (EFSA, 2014).



Figure 1. Methylmercury bioaccumulates in the food chain. Mercury is released into the environment from both natural sources, such as volcanoes, and human activities, such as mines and coal combustion. Once mobilized, anaerobic bacteria can methylate inorganic Hg into methylmercury. Methylmercury then bioaccumulates at each trophic level, in both fresh and salt water ecosystems. High methylmercury concentrations can be found in top end predators, such as large fish and marine mammals. Figure modified from http://groundtruthtrekking.org/Graphics/MercuryFoodChain.html.

1.2 Uptake and distribution of methylmercury in the body

The majority (>90%) of Hg present in fish is present as MeHg (Amlund et al., 2007; Lemes and Wang, 2009). In turn, the MeHg in fish is largely bound in a 1:1 ratio to thiol groups (R-SH) of mainly protein incorporated cysteine (Cys) residues, in a complex termed methylmercury-L-cysteinate (MeHg-Cys) (Harris et al., 2003; Lemes and Wang, 2009). This MeHg-Cys is transported into cells and across membranes by the <u>L</u>-Type <u>a</u>mino acid transporters, LAT1 and LAT2 (Simmons-Willis et al., 2002), found throughout the body (Prasad et al., 1999; Rossier et al., 1999). It is thought that MeHg-Cys transport by the LAT's occurs as MeHg-Cys structurally mimics another LAT substrate, methionine, but this mimicry hypothesis is controversial (Hoffmeyer et al., 2006; Asaduzzaman and Schreckenbach, 2011). Irrespectively, MeHg-Cys is efficiently (>95%) absorbed (Smith and Farris, 1996; Nobuhiro et al., 2012) in the intestine (Clarkson et al., 2007) and transported throughout the body; including across the placental (Suzuki et al., 1984) and blood brain barriers (Kerper et al., 1992) in a concentration dependent manner (reviewed by Newland et al. (2008)).

1.3 Methylmercury toxicity targets the developing nervous system.

With maternal intake of MeHg, the foetal brain accumulates higher concentrations of Hg than the maternal brain (Watanabe et al., 1999). During the Minamata tragedy, it became evident that the developing foetal central nervous systems (CNS) was particularly vulnerable to MeHg-induced toxicity, as severe impairment of neurological function was observed in infants born to mothers without symptoms (Harada, 1995). Subsequently, motor skill deficits, such as ataxia and loss of balance, sensory deficits such as reduced visual sensitivity, and overall reductions in IQ, have been reported in human infants exposed to MeHg by maternal transfer (Mahaffey, 2004; Farina et al., 2011; Sheehan et al., 2014). Many aspects of MeHg-induced neurological damage during foetal development are irreversible and thus persist into adulthood (Mahaffey, 2004; Johansson et al., 2007; Weber et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2010).

Adult exposure to MeHg can also disrupt the CNS, but the primary target of chronic MeHg exposure appears to be the cardiovascular system (Karagas et al., 2012). Low level chronic exposure to MeHg has been associated with increased risk of myocardial infarction and mortality from cardiovascular disease (Karagas et al., 2012). Furthermore, a latency period can occur between the time of exposure until symptoms arise; termed late onset symptoms. For instance, three decades of aging in Minamata disease patients after MeHg exposure resulted in additional CNS related symptoms (Kinjo et al., 1993).

1.4 The biological interactions underlying methylmercury toxicity.

1.4.1 Methylmercury-induced disruption of proteins and small molecular weight compounds.

At the chemical level, the toxicity of MeHg occurs primarily because of its tendency to form covalent bonds with sulphur (S; MeHg-S) and Se (MeHg-Se), via the Hg atom (Nuttall, 1987; Dyrssen and Wedborg, 1991; Asaduzzaman and Schreckenbach, 2011). The biological ramifications of this are that both S and Se are critical components in biological systems. In particular, S is found in the thiol group of Cys, and Se in the selenol group of selenocysteine (Sec; amino acid symbol "U"), both of which are proteinogenic amino acids. With a single exception, protein incorporated Sec is always found at the active site of Se dependent proteins, termed selenoproteins (Papp et al., 2007). Cysteine is also found at enzyme active sites, but additionally is critical in exposed side chains that undergo post translational modifications that affect protein activity or function (Barford, 2004; Papp et al., 2007). Furthermore, Cys is the functional component of all the major cellular redox couples; glutathione/glutathione (2GSH/GSSG), Cys/Cystine (2Cys/CySS) and reduced/oxidised disulphide thioredoxin (Trx(SH)₂/TrxSS); and thus essential for the maintenance of redox balance in cells (Hussey et al., 2009). The subsequent binding of these critical Cys/Sec residues with MeHg can impair the functions of proteins and small molecular weight compounds ((Fig. 2A-B), reviewed by Farina et al. (2012)). Functionally critical



Figure 2. Mechanisms of MeHg-induced protein disruption. MeHg (-HgCH₃) can disrupt (red pathways) the cellular environment by (A) direct binding to thiol or selenol groups at the active site of proteins, herein depicted as MeHg preventing GPX1 from reducing a reactive oxygen species (ROS; coloured blue) H_2O_2 to water; (B) direct binding to thiol groups important for post translational modification of proteins, herein depicted as MeHg preventing a disulfide bond between two thiol groups critical for correct protein structure and function; or (C) indirectly via disruption of downstream pathways, herein depicted as MeHg-induced increases in ROS (via direct antioxidant enzyme inhibition) resulting in the oxidation of an enzyme active site thiol group sulfur to sulfinic acid, (an irreversible modification for certain enzymes (Rhee et al., 2005)). The examples provided serve to illustrate potential direct and indirect MeHg-induced disruption of protein function and are in no way exhaustive.

In addition to direct binding to primary targets at thiol and selenol groups, or to their biological intermediates, MeHg may also induce secondary effects, whereby pathways relying on these primary targets are themselves disrupted (reviewed by Farina et al. (2012)). For instance, the function and activities of many proteins are regulated by the cellular redox balance (Barford, 2004). Reduced function of primary targets in antioxidant pathways by MeHg can increase cellular levels of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species (ROS/RNS) and shift cellular redox potentials, disrupting redox sensitive proteins and pathways that may not be affected directly by MeHg binding (Fig. 2C) (Farina et al., 2012). In neural cells, MeHg appears to induce a similar cascade effect which starts with MeHg binding and disrupting proteins involved in cellular calcium homeostasis, which then leads to disruption of calcium dependent pathways (Farina et al., 2012).

The final consequence of MeHg-S or Se binding can be impaired cellular function and cell death. Consistent with the MeHg induced neurological symptoms, MeHg toxicity can result in brain lesions, and several types of neural cells appear particularly sensitive to MeHg-induced apoptosis (Chang, 1977; Kaur et al., 2012).

1.4.2 Factors affecting the interactions between selenium, sulfur and methylmercury in biological systems.

Mercury will form Hg-Se in preference to Hg-S bonds in simple chemical solutions (Dyrssen and Wedborg, 1991). Correspondingly, MeHg has a tendency to form MeHg-Se-R in preference to MeHg-S-R bonds in biochemical solutions (Sugiura et al., 1978). Additionally, MeHg forms a promiscuous covalent bond that it will readily break to form a new bond with lower entropy, which favours S bound MeHg redistributing to Se (Sugiura et al., 1978; Asaduzzaman and Schreckenbach, 2011). The higher affinity of MeHg for Se than for S, coupled with the functional use of Se at enzyme active sites, are key reasons why selenoproteins appear particularly vulnerable to MeHg induced disruption (Farina et al., 2012).

However, despite the dominance of MeHg-Se bonds compared to MeHg-S bonds in chemical solutions, several other factors must be considered to explain the interactions between MeHg, S and Se in biological systems. For one, there is an equilibrium between the ratios of protonated thiol/selenol (R-SH or R-SeH) versus the deprotonated thiolate/selenoate (R-S⁻ or R-Se⁻) forms in Cys or Sec, respectively. This equilibrium is dictated largely by the cellular pH, which increases the ratio of protonated to deprotonated Cys and Sec residues as it decreases. The pH at which half the S/Se atoms are protonated (pKa) is \approx 8.3 for Cys and \approx 5.2 for Sec (Huber and Criddle, 1967). Thus at physiological pH of around 7.0, the equilibrium favours the Se of Sec being in the exposed R-Se⁻ form and susceptible to MeHg binding, while the S of Cys is more likely to be in the more protected protonated R-SH form.

Interestingly, it appears that in biological systems the pKa of thiol/selenol groups is a larger factor determining the probability of their binding to MeHg than the presence of Se or S *per se*. For instance, even among two proteins containing exposed Cys residues, one can be preferentially targeted by MeHg (Farina et al., 2012). The pKa value of a protein incorporated amino acid residue side chain is affected by its neighbouring residues (Gilbert, 1990), and hence so is the exposure of the S/Se atom of Cys/Sec residue to MeHg. For instance, MeHg severely decreases the activity of the non-selenoprotein creatine kinase (Glaser et al., 2010). This probably occurs as a result of the high affinity of MeHg for the Cys thiol group at the active site that has a pKa of 5.4 (Wang et al., 2006). It is reasonable to assume that along with its physical accessibility to MeHg, the pKa's of Se in Sec residues also differ between selenoproteins, affecting their susceptibility to MeHg binding.

Another factor influencing MeHg bonding in the cellular environment is the overwhelming molar dominance of S over Se. For instance, fish tissue contains around 7 g of S and 1 mg of Se/kg DM, a ratio of 7000:1 (Waagbø et al., 2001). More specifically, nutritionally replete mammals have around 0.25 μ g Se/g in Sec (3.2 × 10⁻⁶ molar Se) (Hill et al., 2012) and 260 μ g S/g in Cys (8.3 × 10⁻³ molar S) (Wu et al., 1999) on a wet weight basis, a 2500 fold S:Se ratio. This ratio is consistent with the small number of selenoproteins, for example 25 in humans (Kryukov et al., 2003),

versus the ubiquitous presence of Cys throughout much of the proteome. The S:Se ratio may explain why despite the higher affinity of the MeHg-Se bond, MeHg is largely found bound to Cys (for example as MeHg-Cys in fish tissue, discussed in Section 1.2) and MeHg-induced disruptions at the cellular level appear to largely originate from MeHg-S bonding (Yang et al., 2007; Cuello et al., 2012; Farina et al., 2012; Ho et al., 2013; Zayas et al., 2014).

The above discussion regarding MeHg binding to amino acid side groups is based primarily on evidence from studies on MeHg-Cys, and inferred for MeHg-Sec. While MeHg will directly inhibit selenoprotein function, and thus presumably directly bind Sec within proteins (Hirota et al., 1980), MeHg can also bind a biological intermediate of Se metabolism/Sec synthesis, H₂Se (Iwata et al., 1982; Masukawa et al., 1982). It remains unknown what Se species, such as proteinogenic Sec residues, or biological intermediates such as H₂Se, are the cellular Se species most susceptible to MeHg binding. Irrespective of this, once bound by MeHg, Se is presumed to have entered the biologically unavailable Se pool (Ralston et al., 2012).

1.4.3 Selenium's antagonism of methylmercury toxicity.

Paradoxically, it is well documented that Se has a protective effect against MeHg toxicity. This effect was first reported in the early 1970's when it was found that both inorganic Se and Se naturally present in food (Se found in tuna) protected against MeHg-induced decreased growth and increase mortality (Ganther et al., 1972). However, the underlying mechanism/s for the Se-mediated protection against MeHg toxicity still remain unclear. There are currently two main hypotheses. Hypothesis 1) is that selenoproteins help to prevent oxidative stress induced when MeHg directly disrupts many key proteins involved in cellular redox system pathways (Fig. 3A). For example, glutathione peroxidases (GPX) are key antioxidant selenoproteins, and overexpression of GPX1 *in vitro* provides protection against MeHg induced oxidative stress (Farina et al., 2009). Hypothesis 2) is that MeHg induces a cellular Se deficiency by binding Se, and this Se deficiency targets selenoproteins (Fig. 3B). As such MeHg toxicity pathologies have been suggested to actually be Se deficiency pathologies



Figure 3. The proposed mechanisms for the biological interactions of selenium (Se) and methylmercury (MeHg). Elevated Se status may help to prevent MeHg-induced toxicity via two main mechanisms. The first (**A**) is by the function of selenoproteins in antioxidant and/or redox pathways. These selenoproteins help to counteract the MeHg-induced increases in reactive oxygen species (ROS) and disruption to cellular redox balance, which can occur via direct binding of MeHg to redox proteins (solid red arrow) or indirectly via the disruption of pathways requiring MeHg bound proteins (segmented red arrow). Many selenoproteins are induced by oxidative stress, and additional Se enables an increased capacity for selenoprotein translation under oxidative conditions. The second (**B**) mechanism is that elevated Se status helps to maintain bioavailable levels of cellular Se, which in turn helps to maintain the functional selenoproteome, in the face of direct binding of Se in non-bioavailable complexes (either as intermediates of Se metabolism (R-Se-HgCH₃), or direct binding to Se in selenoproteins) by MeHg. A specific example of the general concept of MeHg inhibiting the function of a selenoprotein (**B**) is found in Fig 2A. See Table 1 for full selenoprotein names.

(Ralston et al., 2008). In agreement, GPX activity is negatively affected by either Se deficiency or MeHg toxicity, and in both cases additional Se supplementation restores activity (Chang and Suber, 1982; Weiss et al., 1996). The two hypotheses are not conflicting, and also have a common theme, in that functional selenoproteins are required to result in the protective effect of Se against MeHg toxicity.

1.5 Selenium as an essential nutrient.

Selenium was first reported as an essential trace element in the late 1950's (Schwarz and Foltz, 1957), and as an essential component of what became the first known selenoprotein, GPX1, two decades later (Flohe et al., 1973; Rotruck et al., 1973). At the time, GPX activity was already known to be an important part of the cellular antioxidant system (Mills, 1957; Cohen and Hochstein, 1963), and the link between Se and the prevention of disease associated with oxidative stress became clear (Hafeman et al., 1974). Among others, the discovery of phospholipid hydroperoxidase (GPX4) (Ursini et al., 1985), iodothyronine deiodinase 1 (DIO1) (Berry et al., 1991a), selenoprotein W (SEPW) (Vendeland et al., 1993) and thioredoxin reductase 1 (TXNRD1) (Gladyshev et al., 1996; Tamura and Stadtman, 1996) linked Se nutrition to such areas as male fertility (GPX4), thyroid hormone metabolism (DIO1), muscular pathology (SEPW) and cellular redox signalling (TXNRD1).

In livestock, severe Se deficiency can result in necrotic liver damage, muscular dystrophy, exudative diathesis and increase mortality among others, and symptoms are often exaggerated in tandem with Vitamin E deficiency (Combs and Combs, 1986b). In humans, severe Se deficiency is rare. However, low Se status is common in Eastern Europe and areas of China among others, and is associated with increased risk of mortality, poor immune function and cognitive decline (Rayman, 2012). Clinical Se supplementation trials have demonstrated that the optimal Se status differs greatly depending on the outcomes measured. For instance the window for Se status that is associated with a decrease risk of some cancers is higher than that to fulfil maximum selenoprotein expression, but also extends into the window associated with an increased risk of type-II diabetes (Rayman, 2012). Added to this the overall window of

optimal Se status is small, and Se supplementation is only associated with benefits for the population with a Se status below this window. Ironically, individuals with an optimal Se status before supplementation can become more at risk of certain diseases with supplementation (Rayman, 2012). Currently, the recommended dietary Se intakes differ between authority bodies, but range from 40 to 85 μ g/day for men and 30 to 70 μ g/day for women, and are based around Se levels which result in maximum blood plasma GPX (GPX3) activity (Thomson, 2004).

Total Se concentrations in plant derived foods are largely dictated by the levels of plant bioavailable Se found in the soil (Combs and Combs, 1986a). Typical plant based foods have between 0 and 0.8 mg Se/kg (Rayman, 2012). Animal based foods are generally higher in Se than plant based foods. Organ meats and seafood generally have the highest Se levels that typically range between 0.4 and 1.5 mg/kg (Combs and Combs, 1986b; Rayman, 2012). Food Se is found in a multitude of chemical species (Dumont et al., 2006). Inorganic Se species, including selenite (SeO₃²⁻) and selenate (SeO₄²⁻), are commonly used in dietary supplements and experimental diets, and are the predominate Se species found in soil and water (Combs and Combs, 1986b). Organic Se species, such as the protein-incorporated amino acid selenomethionine (SeMet), predominate in the natural food chain (Dumont et al., 2006) and in commercially produced Se-enriched yeast (Se-yeast)(Polatajko et al., 2006). Both inorganic and organic Se sources can be utilised for *de novo* synthesis of Sec, and hence selenoprotein synthesis (Papp et al., 2007).

The relatively high levels of Se in seafood has been suggested to play a major role in negating toxic effects from the MeHg also found in seafood. As such, it has been suggested that seafood MeHg concentrations should be considered in context with their ratio to Se levels. This is because lower seafood Se:MeHg ratios, such as those found in many apex predators such as sharks, may provide a better indicator of the increased likelihood of MeHg-induced toxic effects than MeHg levels alone (Berry and Ralston, 2008).

1.6 Vertebrate selenogenomes

As for terminology, selenogenes are genes coding for selenoproteins, while the selenoproteome/selenotranscriptome/selenogenome are the complete sets of selenoproteins/expressed selenogenes/selenogenes of an organism. With the rise of bioinformatics the first genome wide analyses for selenogenes were performed, whereby it was determined that humans contain 25 selenogenes, while rats and mice have 24 (Kryukov et al., 2003) and zebrafish 38 (Mariotti et al., 2012). The higher number of selenogenes found in zebrafish is mainly the result of a whole genome duplication event in a common ancestor of bony fish, after the split from the lineage that led to amphibians, reptiles, birds and mammals (Amores et al., 1998; Meyer and Schartl, 1999). Subsequently, the main difference between humans and zebrafish is that several genes found as single copies in humans (7 out of 25 selenogenes) are found as two copies (paralogs) in zebrafish (i.e. gpx1a and gpx1b; For complete list see selenoproteins marked with ** in Table 1). However, the majority (15 out of 25 selenogenes; Table 1) of selenogenes in humans are also found as single copies in zebrafish (Mariotti et al., 2012).

Currently, selenoproteins can be classified into six functional groups; antioxidant, redox signalling, thyroid hormone metabolism, Sec synthesis, Se transport/storage or protein folding (Papp et al., 2007). However, *in silico* knowledge of the selenotranscriptome far exceeds that of functional studies on the selenoproteome, and around half (11 out of 25) of the human selenoproteins remain largely uncharacterised (Table 1). Table 1 lists the primary, or putated, function of vertebrate selenoproteins.

	U	L	
Abbr.*	Name	Primary function and cellular location***	Mutant/knockout***
DIO1	Iodothyronine	Thyroid hormone metabolism, located in	DIO1-/- develop normally
	deiodinase	plasma membrane	(Moghadaszadeh and Beggs,
			2006).
DIO2		As above, located in ER membrane	DIO2 ^{-/-} are viable, but have
			disrupted energy metabolism
			(Marsili et al., 2011).
<u>DIO3</u> **		As above, located in plasma membrane	ND
		(Moghadaszadeh and Beggs, 2006)	

Table 1. Gene abbreviations, names and function of selenoproteins. Underlined selenoproteins were not investigated in this thesis. Modified from Paper III.

<u>EPT1</u>	Ethanolaminephospho- transferase (aka SELI)	Phospholipid synthesis (??), cytosolic (Horibata and Hirabayashi, 2007)	ND
FEP15	Fish sep15-like protein	Fish specific, unknown function. Localised in ER and Golgi (Novoselov et al., 2006)	ND
GPX1**	Glutathione peroxidase	Reduces H ₂ 0 ₂ , cytosolic.	GPX1 ^{-/-} develop normally (Moghadaszadeh and Beggs, 2006)
<u>GPX2</u>		As above, but highly expressed in gastrointestinal tract	GPX2 ^{-/-} develop normally (Moghadaszadeh and Beggs, 2006)
GPX3**		As above, but localised to most extracellular fluids	GPX3 ^{-/-} develop normally in both mice and zebrafish (Olson et al., 2010; Kettleborough et al., 2013)
GPX4**		Reduces H ₂ 0 ₂ and phospholipid hydroperoxides, associated with cell and organelle membranes, also cytosolic. Specific splice variant (Pfeifer et al., 2001) essential structural component of sperm (Ursini et al., 1999)	GPX4 ^{-/-} is embryonic lethal (Moghadaszadeh and Beggs, 2006)
MSRB1**	Methionine sulfoxide reductase B1	Reduces oxidised methionine and may play a role in redox status. Localised in the cytosol and nucleus	MSRB1 ^{-/-} are viable, but have elevated oxidative stress (Fomenko et al., 2009)
SPS2	Selenophosphate synthetase 2	Catalyses step in Sec biosynthesis, cytosolic (Moghadaszadeh and Beggs, 2006)	ND
SELH	Selenoprotein H	Antioxidant (??), localised to the nucleoli (Novoselov et al., 2007)	SELH ^{-/-} is embryonic lethal in zebrafish (Amsterdam et al., 2004).
SELJ	1	Fish specific, eye structural protein (??), localisation unknown (Castellano et al., 2005)	ND
SELK	К	Chaperone like function in a pathway degrading misfolded proteins (??), and/or Ca^{2+} homeostasis in immune cells (??). Localised to ER (Shchedrina et al., 2011)	SELK ^{-/-} are viable, but are immunocompromised (Saguna et al., 2011).
SELL	L	Fish specific, antioxidant (??), cytosolic (Shehedrina et al. 2007)	ND
SELM	М	Unknown function, localised to the ER and Golgi.	SELM ^{-/-} are viable, but have disrupted energy metabolism (Pitts et al. 2013)
SEPN	Ν	Function unclear, but critical for muscle development. Localised to the ER membrane.	SEPN ^{-/-} in humans is not embryonic lethal, but patients exhibit congenital muscular dystrophy (Petit et al. 2003)
SELO	0	Kinase (??), unknown localisation (Dudkiewicz et al., 2012).	ND
SEPP1**	P1	Primary Se transport protein, extra and intracellular.	SEPP1 ^{-/-} viable when fed a high Se diet (Moghadaszadeh and Beggs, 2006).
SELT**	T (fish; T1)	Cellular Ca ²⁺ homeostasis (??). Localised to the ER, Golgi and cytosol (Grumolato et al., 2008).	ND
SEPW	W (fish; W1)	Cytosolic antioxidant (Whanger, 2009)	ND

SEP15	15	Protein folding (??). Localised in the ER.	SEP15 ^{-/-} are viable, but have elevated cataract levels
TXNRD1	Thioredoxin reductase	Reduces thioredoxin, cytosolic.	(Kasaikina et al., 2011) TXNRD1 ^{-/-} is embryonic lethal (Moghadaszadeh and
TXNRD2		As above, mitochondrial. Not found in fish	Beggs, 2006) TXNRD2 ^{-/-} is embryonic lethal (Moghadaszadeh and Beggs, 2006)
TXNRD3		As above, mainly expressed in testes (Arnér, 2009).	ND
<u>VIMP</u>	VCP- interacting membrane protein (aka SELS)	Protein degradation pathway (??), located in the ER (Christensen et al., 2012)	ND

* Several largely uncharacterised selenoproteins are not present in the table. These are the fish specific selenoproteins <u>SELO2</u>, SEPW2a, SEPW2b, FAM213aa (aka SELU1a), <u>FAM213ab</u> (aka SELU1c) and SELT2, and the placental mammal specific selenoproteins <u>GPX6</u> and <u>SELV</u>.

** These selenogenes are found as paralogs (a and b) in zebrafish (Mariotti et al., 2012). However the characterisation of the individual paralogs are largely unknown, and functions and cellular locations of the single mammalian ortholog are provided.

*** For mice/rats unless otherwise stated.

Abbr, abbreviation; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; ??, indicates function suggested by homology and/or *in vitro* experiments, but further characterisation is required to confirm.

1.7 Zebrafish as a model for studying selenoproteins

Overall, zebrafish have copies of all but three of the known non-piscine vertebrate selenogenes; txnrd2 (aka TG), gpx6 and selv (Mariotti et al., 2012). Combined with other features of zebrafish, such as the short generation time, genetic traceability and transparent embryos that allow the study of early vertebrate development (Kahn, 1994), the zebrafish is an exciting model for investigating selenoproteins at an organism level in vertebrates.

Being fish, zebrafish have several major differences to mammals that are important to be aware of when they are used as a model to explore selenoproteins. The first is that unlike mammals, fish can obtain Se directly from water over their gills (Hodson and Hilton, 1983), and hence have multiple exposure routes to Se. The second is that maternal transfer of nutrients in fish occurs for a short period, development occurs after maternal nutrient transfer is complete and among others the major protein transferred to oocytes is vitellogenin (Bobe and Labbé, 2010), conditions of which all are absent

in non-monotreme mammals. The third is that unlike common rodent models, the nutrient requirements of zebrafish remain largely unknown. As such there is currently no standard diet for zebrafish, and unknown nutrient effects may confound results within the zebrafish research field (Penglase et al., 2012).

1.8 Selenoprotein synthesis

The mRNA of selenogenes have several distinct features, a) the presence of a UGA stop codon/s within the open reading frame, and b) a specific stem-loop structure in the 3' untranslated region termed the SECIS element (Sec insertion sequence)(Fig. 4). Normally, UGA codons within the open reading frame (premature stop codons) are detected and the mRNAs are rapidly degraded by nonsense-mediated decay (NMD), a pathway that minimises the translation of truncated proteins (Rebbapragada and Lykke-Andersen, 2009). However in the selenotranscriptome, NMD is utilised as a regulatory mechanism in response to Se availability. Under Se replete conditions, the premature stop codon/s of selenogenes are recoded to Sec during translation by means of a protein complex recruited to the SECIS element (Berry et al., 1991b; Papp et al., 2007). Meanwhile, under Se deficient conditions, it is thought that the recruitment of this protein complex is disrupted, and the within frame UGA codon in the mRNA of a subset of selenogenes is identified as a stop codon and the mRNA enters the NMD pathway (Moriarty et al., 1998). As a result, Se status strongly affects the selenotranscriptome and ultimately the selenoproteome. Suboptimal dietary Se levels result in decreased mRNA and protein levels primarily of antioxidant selenoproteins (Sunde and Raines, 2011) and this targeted effect may be because of functional redundancy with non-Se dependent antioxidant proteins (Wirth et al., 2010). Overall this effect is referred to as the selenoprotein hierarchy (Brigelius-Flohé, 1999), and is thought to allow Se to be preferentially allocated to selenoproteins that are more critical for cell survival when Se supply is limited (Schweizer et al., 2004).

Compared to the tight regulatory control of Sec during protein translation, SeMet is not distinguished from methionine by tRNA, and as such is substituted as methionine into



Figure 4. Unique features of selenogene mRNA's. The mRNA of selenogenes have several unique features (coloured red in (**A**)) that are essential for the insertion of selenocysteine (Sec) residue/s during protein translation. The first is a premature stop codon (nucleotide sequence UGA) which is present within the translated region of the mRNA (open black box), and the second is a stem loop structure in the 3' untranslated region of the mRNA termed the Sec insertion sequence (SECIS element). Variations on this them exist, as for instance *sepp1* mRNA contains two SECIS elements, and multiple premature stop codons. During translation (**B**), a protein complex containing Sec tRNA that is recruited to the SECIS element interacts with the ribosome allowing Sec to be incorporated into the nascent protein chain, effectively retranslating the premature stop codon as a Sec codon. Figure (**B**) is based on the mammalian model and adapted from (Papp et al., 2007), and additional components required for mRNA translation in general are omitted for simplicity. Abbreviations; SECISBP2, SECIS binding protein 2; RPL30, Ribosomal protein L30; EEFSEC, Eukaryotic elongation factor, Sec-tRNA-specific.

proteins in a concentration-dependent manner (Waschulewski and Sunde, 1988). Thus all proteins with methionine residues may contain Se, but only those where Sec is genetically coded for are classed as selenoproteins.

Selenoprotein synthesis is metabolically costly, relatively slow and relies on a supply of an additional nutrient (Se) (Papp et al., 2007). Thus, the evolutionary retention of selenogenes implies that Sec, which is nearly always a functional residue at the active site of selenoproteins, confers a unique catalytic advantage. In agreement, compared to Cys, its closest analogue, Sec appears to increase protein stability (Nauser et al., 2014), and allow enzyme activity to occur over a wider range of physiological conditions, including changes in pH (Gromer et al., 2003) and at elevated levels of H₂O₂ (Rocher et al., 1992). Additionally, Sec can often, but not always, result in higher catalytic rates than Cys containing protein isoforms. For example GPX^{Sec} \rightarrow GPX^{Cys} (GPX where the Sec is replaced by Cys) decreases activity by 1000 fold (Rocher et al., 1992), while TXNRD1^{Sec} and TXNRD1^{Cys} isoforms can have similar activity levels (Gromer et al., 2003). Overall, the benefit of using Sec is probably different between selenoproteins (Nauser et al., 2014), and may include additional unidentified factors.

1.9 Selenium toxicity targets the embryonic and larval stages in fish

The toxicity of Se was known well before its essentiality. For example, in the early 20th century, Se-induced toxicity from elevated Se levels that accumulated in plants growing on selenifourous soils was found to be the cause of the disease "blind staggers" in livestock (Combs and Combs, 1986b). Selenium-induced toxicity appears to be mediated predominately by Se-induced oxidative stress (Spallholz, 1994). Metabolism of small Se containing compounds, including both inorganic (e.g. selenite) and organic species (e.g. SeMet) in the presence of GSH produces ROS such as superoxide (O_2^{-1}) and/or hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) in a concentration dependent manner (Spallholz, 1994). With elevated Se intake, the cellular antioxidant system is overwhelmed by Semetabolism induced increases in ROS, leading to oxidative stress. Oxidative stress

from the metabolism of Se species is proposed to account for the cell cycle arrest and apoptosis that accounts for both the toxicity and carcinostatic properties of Se (Spallholz, 1994; Spallholz et al., 2004).

The embryonic and larval stages of oviparous species; which includes fish, amphibians, reptiles and birds; appear particularly vulnerable to Se toxicity (Janz et al., 2010). For instance, adult fish in Se contaminated water sources may be unaffected while at the same time larval fish can have Se-induced increased rates of deformities and mortality (Lemly, 1997). This difference appears to be because embryonic and larval stages in fish rely heavily on amino acids as an energy source compared to later stages (Kamler, 2008; Conceição et al., 2011), which inevitably results in oxidative stress via SeMet catabolism (Fig. 5; (Palace et al., 2004)). Coupled with this, early life stages are more sensitive to disturbances in cellular redox balance (Ufer and Wang, 2011), and thus more sensitive to Se-mediated oxidative stress in general.



Fig. 5. See figure caption on next page

Figure 5 (previous page). A proposed mechanism of reactive oxygen specie (ROS) generation when selenomethionine is catabolised by the methioninase enzyme in hepatocytes. Methioninase cleaves selenomethionine into several products including methylselenol. The subsequent redox cycling of methylselenol oxidises glutathione (GSH) to glutathione disulfide (GSSG), which can reduce the levels of GSH, an important molecule for maintaining cellular redox balance. At the same time oxygen (O₂) is reduced to the superoxide free radical (O₂•⁻). The combination of decreased protection against ROS (reduced GSH levels) and the concomitant increase in ROS generated (O₂•⁻) is thought to be particularly harmful during a critical window in embryogenesis just after organogenesis of the liver. In this critical window the liver has methioninase, but not superoxide dismutase, activity. Henceforth, O₂•⁻ levels increase dramatically as they cannot enter the antioxidant chain and oxidative stress occurs. The critical period determined in trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) was around 29 days post fertilisation at 8° C (Palace et al., 2004). A similar development stage occurs around 42 hours post fertilisation at 28.5° in zebrafish (Kimmel et al., 1995). Adapted from Palace et al. (2004) with permission.

Study aims

The primary aim of this study was to explore how Se and MeHg interact at both the organism and molecular level using zebrafish as the model. Specifically we aimed to assess the interactive effects of Se and MeHg on reproduction, and then on selenogene mRNA expression during development. There were three steps to complete these aims;

1. Identify key molecular responses to Se status and the Se requirements of zebrafish (**Paper I**).

Selenium status affects many cellular process and is a factor in MeHg toxicity (Ralston et al., 2012). Therefore, uncontrolled differences in Se status may affect outcomes when exploring MeHg toxicity, which is preventable by including Se as a controlled variable. We therefore had to determine the Se requirements of zebrafish before exploring Se×MeHg interactions in the following steps.

2. Determine the interactive effects of Se and MeHg on vertebrate reproductive outcomes (**Paper II**).

Reproduction is affected by either Se or MeHg toxicity, but little is known about how Se and MeHg interact to affect reproduction. The control diet level of Se in this step would be based on the Se requirements determined in **Paper I**, to prevent any tandem cellular effects of a deficient or toxic Se status. This experiment was also required to obtain a maternally exposed F_1 generation for the next step.

Use the F₁ generation generated at step (2) to identify selenogenes that are affected by the interactive effects of Se and MeHg during development (Paper III).

The main concern of MeHg-induced impacts in humans are those caused by maternal transfer of MeHg during foetal development, a scenario modelled in **Paper III** by using the maternally exposed F_1 generation of zebrafish. Several

selenoproteins are molecular targets of MeHg, while Se can protect against MeHg toxicity. However, the effect of MeHg has only been investigated on a small number of selenoproteins. Thus, a more comprehensive overview of the Se×MeHg interactions on the selenotranscriptome is needed. Thus, in **Paper III** we investigated 30 out of the putative 38 selenogenes in zebrafish, which covers most vertebrate selenoprotein families and functional groups.

Results summary

2.1 Selenogene expression in response to selenium and/or methylmercury status

In total, the mRNA expressions of 30 out of the 38 putative selenogenes were analysed in zebrafish embryos maternally exposed to elevated Se and/or MeHg (**Paper III**), while four selenogenes were analysed in juvenile zebrafish in response to Se status (**Paper I**). The 30 selenogenes (**Paper III**) cover most of the selenoprotein families; including members of the *gpx*, *thioredoxin reductase*, *iodothyronine deiodinase* and *methionine sulfoxide reductase* families, along with *selenophosphate synthetase 2*, *selenoprotein h*, *j-p*, *t*, *w*, *15*, *fep15* and *fam213aa*; and include members from all six known functional groups of selenoproteins; antioxidant, redox signalling, thyroid hormone metabolism, protein folding, Se transport/storage and Sec synthesis. The four selenogenes analysed in **Paper I**; *gpx1a*, *gpx1b*, *sepp1a* and *sepp1b*; were selenogenes whose single mammalian orthologs (*Gpx1* and *Sepp1*) respond to Se status, and a subset of those analysed in **Paper III**.

The results of the analyses in **Paper III** demonstrate that a) only around one in four (8 out of 30, p<0.05) selenogenes respond to elevated MeHg status and these selenogenes mainly coded for antioxidant proteins, b) MeHg-induced regulation of selenogenes is exclusively via downregulation, and c) elevated Se status can prevent the MeHg-induced downregulation for most (5 out of 8) selenogenes.

Of particular note were *gpx1a* and *gpx1b*. In mammals, GPX1 is an antioxidant protein regulated by Se status, and the most common selenoprotein by quantity (Gross et al., 1995; Hill et al., 2012). The mRNA of the zebrafish *gpx1* paralogs responded to Se status in juvenile zebrafish (**Paper I**), and were downregulated by elevated MeHg in zebrafish embryos (**Paper III**). In juvenile fish, the lowest *gpx1a* and *gpx1b* expression coincided with low GPX activity, and occurred in groups that had the highest growth rates, suggesting a role of Se in regulating growth, perhaps via cellular redox status (**Paper I**).

Along with the *gpx1* paralogs, several other selenogenes that were downregulated by MeHg; *selh*, *gpx4a* and two members of the *sepw* family; *sepw1* and *sepw2a*; also code for selenoproteins from antioxidant families. Additionally, MeHg downregulated selenogenes from redox signalling (*txnrd1*, *msrb1a* and *1b*), thyroid hormone metabolism (*dio1*) or incompletely classified (*selt1b* and *fam213aa*) families. However, the antioxidant coding selenogenes were downregulated to the greatest extent by MeHg. Overall, the response of zebrafish selenogenes to MeHg had similarities to their responses to their mammalian orthologs during Se deficiency. Further analyses specifically in zebrafish embryos demonstrate that the selenogenes most downregulated by MeHg (**Paper III**) were also downregulated by Se deficiency (unpublished data, **Thesis Supp. Material**), further supporting the MeHg-induced Se deficiency hypothesis.

With the addition of the **Thesis Supp. Material** to data from the **Papers I** and **III** we could further conclude that a) low Se status regulates the expression of a small subset of selenogenes (6 out of 30, p<0.05) b), this subset overlaps considerably with those affected by MeHg (4 out of 6, p<0.05), and c) the expression of the majority of selenogenes (20 out of 30, p<0.05) were unaffected by Se and/or MeHg.

2.2 The interactive effects of methylmercury and selenium are life stage dependent

Elevated dietary Se prevented MeHg-induced decreases in growth and increases in mortality in adult zebrafish, as previously reported in vertebrates (**Paper II**). In contrast, reproductive outcomes; fecundity, embryo survival and the number of viable offspring produced (reproductive success); were reduced by elevated Se, and this effect was enhanced by elevated MeHg (**Paper II**), a novel finding in fish. Meanwhile, elevated Se protected against MeHg-induced decreases in selenogene mRNA expressions (see previous section) and GPX activity in zebrafish embryos (**Paper III**). The protection against MeHg-induced disruptions extended into the larval phase, whereby elevated Se was able to partially prevent MeHg-induced hypoactivity (**Paper III**). Thus, while the results show that Se can protect against MeHg-induced toxicity in

general, a critical window, hypothesised to be during embryogenesis, exists whereby elevated Se exerts toxic effects. The results suggests that the MeHg-induced synergism with Se toxicity in this critical period is due to a MeHg-induced increase in Se levels transferred to the oocytes (**Paper II**).

Discussion

This thesis aimed to address some of the open questions in relation to the protective effects of Se against MeHg toxicity. As all papers in this thesis are published, many themes have already been discussed in detail. Thus along with an expansion on concepts put forward in the papers, several key concepts developed post publication will also be discussed.

3.1 A comparison of glutathione peroxidase activity as a biomarker for selenium requirements in fish versus the rodent model.

In the rodent model (rats/mice), GPX activity is a good biomarker for Se requirements. For instance, as Se status in rodents shifts from deficient to replete, total hepatic GPX activity first increases sigmoidally, and then shifts to a plateau like response at ≈ 0.1 mg Se/kg DM (Fig. 6). The shift to a plateau response indicates that the Se status is adequate to fulfil maximum GPX1 protein expression (Weiss et al., 1996; 1997; Barnes et al., 2009) the main contributor to total GPX activity in mammals (Brigelius-Flohe et al., 2002) and the dominant selenoprotein in the mammalian body (Hill et al., 2012). Furthermore, at the 0.1 mg Se/kg dietary level, signs of Se deficiency or toxicity are absent and animals are in general good health (NRC, 1995; Weiss et al., 1996; 1997; Barnes et al., 2009). As a result of these indicators, 0.1 mg/Se kg is defined as the rodent model Se requirement (Weiss et al., 1996). The success of defining Se requirements based on the minimum dietary Se level that results in maximum GPX activity in rodents has led to this methodology being utilised to determine the Se requirements in fish.

However, there is now sufficient evidence that fish GPX activity does not respond to Se status in a similar manner to rodents, as discussed in **Paper I**. The re-analysed data (with models) from the five other published fish Se requirement studies helps to demonstrate this point (Fig. 7). As can be observed, an average of 6 or 4 fold higher levels of Se are required for maximum plasma (GPX3) or hepatic GPX activity, than

for growth, in fish (Fig. 7). Unlike in rodents (Fig. 6), GPX activity increases over a broader range of dietary Se levels in fish (Fig. 7). In the extreme cases, GPX activity can continue to increase even when the dietary Se level has negative effects on growth, as observed for both zebrafish and the marine fish, grouper (*Epinephelus malabaricus*) (Fig. 7D, F and H). Thus in contrast to rodents, maximum GPX activity appears to be a poor biomarker for optimal Se status in fish.



Figure 6. The rodent model response of hepatic GPX activity (•) and the mean normalised *Gpx1* mRNA levels (\circ) to Se status. Male rats (21 days old) were fed diets with increasing levels (0.005 to 0.80 mg Se/kg DM) of inorganic Se (sodium selenite) for 28 days. Red lines indicate the Se requirement for *Gpx1* mRNA (segmented) and GPX activity (solid) (one-way ANOVA, p<0.05). Adapted from Barnes et al. (2009) with permission.

Why fish and rodents, and thus presumably fish and mammals, differ in respect to their GPX activity response to Se status is unclear. The upregulation of GPX in response to elevated Se status is unlikely to be the underlying cause for the decreased growth observed in grouper and zebrafish (Fig. 7), as GPX1 overexpression does not decrease growth in mice (Cheng et al., 1997). To speculate, fish may utilise GPX as a Se storage protein, an idea previously proposed as a secondary function of mammalian GPX1

Fig. 7



See figure caption on the next page

Figure 7. (previous page). Dietary Se levels required for maximum growth (blue segmented lines) versus maximum GPX activity (red segmented lines) in fish. Growth and GPX activity data obtained from the five published studies were re-analysed with regression analysis, and included alongside results from Paper I. Several of these studies include two separate feeding experiments (Experiment <u>1</u> (E1) and <u>2</u> (E2)). Growth data were presented in a range of different units between studies; graph (A and H) as final weight/fish (g) (Hilton et al., 1980; Paper I), graphs (C-G) as % weight gain (Gatlin and Wilson, 1984; Lin and Shiau, 2005; Han et al., 2011) and graph (B) as specific growth rate/day (SGR %/d)(Liu et al., 2010). Broken blue or red lines and the associated numbers indicate Se requirement for maximum growth or GPX activity (h, hepatic; p, plasma; w, whole body GPX activity), respectively. The coefficient of determination (R²) along with the fitted model; first order polynomial (F), second order (S), substrate inhibition (SI) or Michaelis-Menten (M) are found within figures. Data were tested against the null hypothesis (horizontal line) versus alternative hypothesis (p<0.05). The Se requirements for data fitted with the Michaelis-Menten model were based on 95% of the theoretical maximum. One data point is absent from graph (A); final weight of fish fed 13 mg Se/kg was 14 g (Hilton et al., 1980).

(Burk, 1991; Gross et al., 1995). As a consequence of seafood being a rich source of Se (Combs and Combs, 1986b; Rayman, 2012), fish diets are naturally relatively high in Se. This Se rich diet may require the presence of a greater capacity or additional mechanism to prevent Se toxicity. Incorporating Se into a selenoprotein, such as GPX, that can be rapidly upregulated in response to elevated Se would help to prevent Se toxicity due to oxidative stress from uncontrolled redox cycling of Se metabolites (Spallholz, 1994). If KO^{-/-} of the dominant GPX types in fish decreases their Se toxicity threshold remains to be tested, but it would support a role of GPX as a Se buffer in fish. The ability to test this hypothesis may be proximate as a result of the zebrafish mutation project (Kettleborough et al., 2013), which has made GPX3^{-/-} mutants available recently, and expects to make several more (GPX4a^{-/-} and GPX1b^{-/-}) available this year (http://www.sanger.ac.uk/sanger/Zebrafish).

As discussed in **Paper I**, zebrafish growth peaked when GPX activity/mRNA expressions were at their lowest (0.3 mg Se/kg diet, Fig. 7). It is unknown why this occurred. Perhaps in fish fed 0.3 mg Se/kg, GPX activity was at an optimal level. Meanwhile, in fish fed above 0.3 mg Se/kg, GPX activity may have responded positively to excessive Se levels to either store excess Se as discussed previously, or to counteract increased ROS generated by Se metabolism. Alternatively, low GPX

activity may have resulted in elevated cellular H_2O_2 levels, an important intracellular signalling molecule that can influence cellular proliferation, and hence growth (Gough and Cotter, 2011). However, total and oxidised glutathione, redox potential and TBARS remained relatively stable with changing Se status (**Paper I**), suggesting that any changes in H_2O_2 were small, or did not occur throughout the entire body.

The reason why the initial, but small, decrease in GPX activity (and mRNA expression) observed in **Paper I** was not observed in other fish studies may reflect methodology. In **Paper I**, whole zebrafish bodies were analysed, while other fish studies analysed specific organs such as the liver and plasma. As the requirement for a nutrient is determined by the entire organism, whole body analyses are a justifiable trade off against the increase in clarity of the underlying molecular mechanisms for such changes that are obtained by organ specific analyses.

3.2 Fish selenium requirements change with age

During embryogenesis the expressions of selenogenes/proteins are highly dynamic (Thisse et al., 2003; Ufer and Wang, 2011; Skjærven et al., 2013; Timme-Laragy et al., 2013). This suggests that the underlying need for the Se present in these selenoproteins must also change with development. This concept is supported by this thesis, wherein the Se requirements for juvenile growth appear to be over two fold less than those required for both reproduction and the resulting F_1 generation yolk sac larvae (**Paper I**).

3.2.1 Selenium status and reproduction

Aspects of F_0 generation Se and/or MeHg status on reproduction and the subsequent F_1 generation outcomes were explored in all three papers of this thesis. In **Paper I** we found that Se requirements for male mating success (≥ 0.65 mg Se/kg) were over two fold higher than the Se requirements of juvenile zebrafish based on growth (0.3 mg Se/kg). In mammals, testes are a major Se sink, where like the brain, Se is preferentially maintained under conditions of Se deficiency (Hill et al., 2012). This is likely because

sperm requires a splice variant of GPX4, termed sperm nuclei GPX (snGPX4) (Pfeifer et al., 2001), as a major structural component of the sperm mid piece (Ursini et al., 1999). The increased mating success of male fish fed 0.65 mg Se/kg DM correlated with a larger gonad somatic index, and may indicate increased sperm levels or production capacity (**Paper I**). In contrast, elevated Se levels (30 mg Se/kg DM) decreased the gonad somatic index (**Paper I**), an effect likely due to Se-induced oxidative stress in an organ that already has high Se levels under normal physiological conditions (Hill et al., 2012).

Female specific reproductive effects from elevated Se status, such as decreased fecundity and embryo survival were observed in one experiment (Paper II) but not the other (**Paper I**). The different diets and Se sources used in the two experiments may be a contributing factor to this; **Paper I** used a yeast/casein based diet supplemented with Se-yeast, while Paper II used a casein based diet supplemented with SeMet. However, the 3 fold higher dietary Se levels employed in **Paper I** than **II** suggests the weaker experimental design of **Paper I** lacked the statistical power to find differences. For example, the biggest differences in mean embryo survival relative to the high Se group were similar between the studies (≈ 2 fold; 44 versus 86% **Paper I**, 29 versus 53% Paper II). However, the negative effect of elevated Se on embryo survival was statistically significant (main effect, p<0.05) in **Paper II**, where the experimental design allowed the analysis of data from 108 matings (all single pair-wise matings), but not in **Paper I** which only had data from 24 matings (from groups with highest and lowest embryo survivals). Thus, the high natural variation in reproductive outcomes of fish (Bobe and Labbé, 2010) dictates that high numbers of pair or group-wise matings are desirable to obtain meaningful reproductive data, even when the mean differences between treatments are high.

3.2.2 Selenium status and larval locomotor activity.

Larval locomotor activity was affected by Se status (**Paper I** and **III**). Little is known about larval fish locomotor activity in regard to maternal nutrient status. Nutrient requirements generally decrease as weight and age increase (Baker, 1986). Thus larval

zebrafish Se requirements (via maternal nutrition) are probably higher than the 0.3 mg Se/kg required by juvenile zebrafish. For this reason, the lower locomotor activity levels (hypoactivity) of yolk sac larvae from parents fed >0.3 mg/Se kg found in **Paper I** may reflect an optimal state of behaviour.

But how could hypoactivity be a positive attribute? The answer possibly lies in energy conservation. Locomotor activity in **Paper I** and **III** were assessed in \leq 5 dpf zebrafish, which utilise endogenous nutrients from the yolk as a sole source of energy (Jardine and Litvak, 2003). In terms of energy, yolk sac larvae are essentially closed systems, investing energy in either tissue formation (growth) or respiration, which is increased by activity (Kamler, 2008). The 40% lower activity levels of larvae from parents fed 0.65 versus \leq 0.3 mg Se/kg would thus theoretically increase the energy available for growth.

However, in **Paper III** we describe how larvae from parents fed elevated dietary MeHg were also hypoactive. Alongside this, we also found that elevated Se (10 mg Se/kg) induced transient hypoactivity (at 3 dpf, but not present at later ages) (**Paper III**). Behavioural changes such as hypoactivity induced by MeHg are attributed to the negative effects of MeHg on neuron survival and patterning (Kidd and Batchelar, 2011; Hassan et al., 2012). This CNS disruption can impair the ability of fish larvae to capture prey (Fjeld et al., 1998; Alvarez et al., 2006), a vital behavioural transition that is required for survival when yolk sac nutrients are depleted. Overall, entirely different situations; one being the exposure to toxic levels of MeHg/Se, the second being small shifts in Se status within a nutritionally relevant range; can both lead to hypoactivity. This in itself rejects the notion that reduced activity *per se* can be defined either as a positive or negative attribute.

In zebrafish the yolk sac is depleted by <6.9 dpf at 28.5 °C (Jardine and Litvak, 2003). When this occurs, the larvae are entirely dependent on capturing prey for nutrition, and hence growth and survival. Like observed with MeHg, if Se-induced hypoactivity found in the >0.30 mg Se/kg groups continues past the yolk sac stage, prey capture ability could be negatively affected. Thus, two missing elements in this thesis; the

underlying molecular mechanisms for the Se-induced hypoactivity observed in **Paper I**, along with later effects such as larval prey capture ability, would help to define whether the Se-induced yolk sac stage hypoactivity is beneficial or negative.

3.3 Selenium and methylmercury have a synergistic negative effect on oviparous vertebrate reproduction.

The synergistic negative effect of Se and MeHg on zebrafish reproduction (**Paper II**) mirror findings in mallard ducks (*Anas platyrhynchos*) (Heinz and Hoffman, 1998). Interestingly, this effect in both species was associated with MeHg-induced increases in eggs Se levels. In **Paper II** we suggest that this increase in Se led to a concentration dependent increase in Se-mediate oxidative stress, the primary mechanism of Se-induced toxicity in developing embryos and fish larvae (Palace et al., 2004; Janz, 2011). Embryo survival (**Paper II**) was measured at 24 hpf, but not fertilisation rate. However, similar to Se toxicity in fish (Crane et al., 1992), embryogenesis, but not egg fertilisation rate, is targeted by the Se and MeHg interaction in ducks (Heinz and Hoffman, 1998). Embryogenesis may be particularly sensitive to Se-induced oxidative stress, as it requires a finely balanced progression of cellular proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis, which in turn is affected by cellular redox balance (Ufer and Wang, 2011). Furthermore, in fish it has been demonstrated that mismatches between enzymatic activities can lead to SeMet-induced oxidative stress during embryogenesis (See Fig. 5; (Palace et al., 2004; Spallholz et al., 2004))

Whether Se and MeHg have synergistic negative effects on reproduction in nonoviparous species is open to speculation. If MeHg-induced mediated increases in Se toxicity are the primary reason for the synergistic effect, then it is less likely to occur in mammals. This is because the Se-induced teratogenic affects observed in fish (Lemly, 1997) and birds (Heinz and Hoffman, 1998) are less prevalent in mammals, possibly because of protection provided by the placental barrier (Usami and Ohno, 1996). A positive effect of MeHg on zebrafish mating success, fecundity and overall reproductive success occurred when exposure periods occurred for >100 days (**Paper II**). Similarly, MeHg laden diets (4-9 mg Hg/kg DM) increased mating success when fed to adult fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*) during the mating, but not juvenile, period (Hammerschmidt et al., 2002). In ducks, low levels (0.5 mg Hg/kg DM) of dietary MeHg increases the percent of fertilised eggs that hatched and the overall reproductive success (Heinz et al., 2010). The reasons for this hormetic effect on reproduction after short or low level exposure to MeHg are unclear.

3.4 Selenogene regulation

3.4.1 Selenium does not completely prevent methylmercury induced disruption of the selenotranscriptome.

The findings in **Paper III** provide evidence that the selenotranscriptome is regulated by MeHg induced Se deficiency, as many of the selenogenes downregulated by MeHg were rescued by elevated Se. This is in line with a recent mechanistic study demonstrating MeHg induces nonsense-mediated decay (NMD) of gpx1 mRNA probably via inducing Se deficiency (Usuki et al., 2011).

However, Se status is only one of many factors that regulate the expression of selenogenes. Response elements (RE) are regions of DNA found upstream of a gene in the promoter region (Atkinson and Halfon, 2014). The REs recruit proteins termed transcription factors (TFs); which in turn are regulated by the cellular environment; that can up or down regulate gene expression (Todeschini et al., 2014). *In silico* analyses of selenogene promoter regions has identified between 100 and 230 putative RE's per human selenogene, with higher numbers found in selenogenes, such as *Sepp1* and *Txnrd1*, that are widely expressed (Stoytcheva and Berry, 2009). Common selenogene RE's were those bound by nuclear factor-kB (NFkB), metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 (MTF-1) and homeobox (HOX) TF's. Henceforth, the expression of selenogenes probably respond to the diverse range of factors that these latter TF's respond to; such as ROS, oxidised low density lipoproteins, bacterial or viral antigens,

hypoxia, heavy metals, and developmental stage, among others (Stoytcheva and Berry, 2009). Mammalian *Txnrd1* provides an example of how these regulatory mechanisms compete to control gene expression. Both ROS and Se status can regulate mammalian *Txnrd1* expression (Sunde and Raines, 2011). However MeHg induced ROS is a stronger regulator of *Txnrd1* mRNA levels than Se status (Usuki et al., 2011). In **Paper III**, none of the selenogenes downregulated by MeHg and not rescued by elevated Se; *gpx1b*, *txnrd1*, *selt1b*, *msrb1a* (p=0.07), *msrb1b* (p=0.053) and *dio1* (p=0.08); were regulated by Se status in zebrafish embryos (see **Thesis Supp. Material**). Thus it is likely that MeHg regulated these genes primarily via Se status independent pathways.

3.4.2 Zebrafish selenogenes and nonsense-mediated decay

Nonsense mediated decay (NMD) is discussed in both **Paper I** and **III** due to its importance as a regulatory mechanism for the selenotranscriptome and subsequently the selenoproteome. The characteristics of mRNAs that are susceptible to NMD are a) a premature stop codon located a minimum of 50 to 55 nt upstream of an exon junction (EJ), and b) a protein complex, termed the exon junction complex present 20-24 bp upstream of the exon-exon junction (EJ); which limits NMD to the first round of translation (Maquat, 2005). Figure 8 illustrates the mRNA features of zebrafish *gpx1a* compared to *msrb1a* and *txnrd1* that make the former but not the latter two, susceptible to NMD.

In the wider genome, NMD's main role is likely to prevent translation of truncated proteins, which may have reduced or no function, or be cytotoxic (Cowan et al., 2003; Pan et al., 2006). To further explore zebrafish mRNA in regard to NMD, the selenogene database (SelenoDB 2.0) and ensembl were searched for the exon position of the Sec coding UGA codon (Table 2).

As can be seen in Table 2, considerable overlap exists between those selenoproteins that were downregulated by low Se status, elevated MeHg, and that are theoretically susceptible to NMD based on the position of the UGA/Sec codon in the mRNA. Several selenogenes that were regulated by low Se status, but did not confirm to the rules of



Figure 8. Selenogene mRNA susceptibility to Se-deficiency induced nonsense-mediated decay (NMD). Like mammalian *Gpx1*, zebrafish *gpx1a* mRNA contains the selenocysteine (Sec) codon 105 base pairs (bp) upstream of an exon/exon junction (EJ; dashed lines between exons), making it susceptible to NMD. In contrast, the Sec codon in *msrb1a* mRNA is <55 bp upstream of an EJ, and in *txnrd1* has no downstream EJ, in both zebrafish and mammals. These mRNA's should therefore not be susceptible to NMD.

NMD; *gpx3*, *sepp1a* and *sepw1*; are also susceptible to Se-deficiency induced downregulation in mammals, but the regulatory mechanisms for this remain unclear (Sunde and Raines, 2011).

Gene	No. of exons in	Exon no. containing	Distance (nt) to	NMD ¹	Regulated	Regulated
	gene	Sec codon	downstream EJ		by ↓ Se	by ↑ MeHg
gpx1a	2	1	105	Y	$\uparrow 1$	\downarrow
gpx1b	2	1	105	Y	$\downarrow \mathbf{l}$	\downarrow
gpx3	5	2	22	Ν	\downarrow	
gpx4a	3	1	105	Y	\downarrow	\downarrow
gpx4b	4	1	105	Y	↑ (0.09)	
txnrd1	16	16	-	Ν		\downarrow
txnrd3	12?	12	-	Ν		
dio 1	4	2	103	Y		↓ (0.08)
dio2	2	2	-	Ν		
Selh	1	1	-	Ν		↓ (0.055)
Selj	9?	7	1	Ν		
selk	4	4	5	Ν		
sell	9	6	42 and 33	Ν		
selm	5	2	21	Ν		
sepn	12	9	1	Ν		
Selo	9	9	-	Ν		
sepp1a ²	4	$1, 4^2$	26	Ν	↑↓J	
sepp1b	4	1	26	Ν		
selt1a	5	2	101	Y		
selt1b	5	2	101	Y		\downarrow
selt2	5	2	101	Y		
sepw1	5	2	15	Ν	\downarrow	\downarrow
sepw2a	4	2	88 or 92?	Y	↓ (0.08)	\downarrow
sepw2b	4	2	88	Y		
sep15	4	2	28	Ν		
fep15	4	2	56	Y		
msrb1a	4	3	34	Ν		↓ (0.07)
msrb1b	4	3	34	Ν		↓ (0.053)
sps2	8	1	151	Y		
fam213aa	6	3	15	Ν		\downarrow

Table 2. The exon positions of the Sec codons in zebrafish selenogenes, the subsequent predicted susceptibility of the selenogenes to NMD, and the effect of Se or MeHg status on the expression of selenogenes determined *in vivo* in this thesis.

Abbreviations; nt, nucleotide; EJ, exon junction; J, regulation by Se status observed in juveniles but not in embryos; -, Sec codon in last exon; ?, gene annotation unclear. Numbers in parentheses are p values for data with a statistical trend

^{1.} Theoretically susceptible to nonsense-mediated decay based on position of Sec codon

^{2.} Additional Sec residues are found in the last exon of *sepp1a* (mammalian *Sepp1*).

Most of the selenogenes which were downregulated by MeHg but not low Se status; *txnrd1, dio1, selh, selt1b, msrb1a, msrb1b* and *fam213aa*; were also among the group not rescued when elevated Se and MeHg were present together, and the majority are not theoretically susceptible to NMD. As pointed out in **Paper III**, most of these genes are not classified as antioxidants. Thus these genes appear to be a subset of genes that may be regulated by MeHg-induced effects other than MeHg-induced Se deficiency.

However the overall methodology in the table is not without exceptions. For one the selenogenes *gpx1a*, *gpx1b* and *sepp1a* were only found to be regulated by Se status in whole juvenile zebrafish (**Paper I**) and not in zebrafish embryos (**Thesis Supp. Material**). This may reflect temporal or spatial differences in gene regulation. For example, these genes may be regulated by developmental TF's in the embryos, which may be stronger regulators than Se-mediated mechanisms at this stage.

Zebrafish selenogene mRNAs provide an ideal model to further elucidate how small changes in the mRNA nucleotide sequence can affect NMD. For instance *gpx4a* and *gpx4b* share sequence identities of 85% (NCBI nblast) and both have the Sec encoding TGA codon 105 bp upstream of the EJ, but only *gpx4a* is downregulated by Se deficiency directly (**Thesis Supp. Material**), or as a consequence of MeHg (**Paper III**).

3.4.3 The glutathione peroxidase system in fish

This thesis found that zebrafish gpx4a was a highly inducible gene, unlike its mammalian ortholog Gpx4 which demonstrates minimal regulation by Se (Sunde and Raines, 2011) or MeHg (Kim et al., 2005) status. Alongside this, gpx4a also appears to be an abundant transcript. For example, Zheng et al. (2013) found that gpx4a was the most abundant selenogene transcript, and one of the most abundant transcripts overall in both female and male zebrafish livers. Compared to the gpx1 paralogs, both gpx4a and gpx4b are higher in abundance by around 10 fold during zebrafish development (0-50 dpf) (Timme-Laragy et al., 2013), and 3 fold in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) liver (Pacitti et al., 2013). This contrasts with mammals, where hepatic Gpx1 mRNA abundance is around 7 fold higher than that of Gpx4 (Weiss Sachdev and Sunde, 2001). Thus, at the transcriptome level fish gpx4a appears to be a key selenogene, possibly reflecting the highly abundant Gpx1 transcript found in mammals.

The same contrast appears true at the functional protein level. In fish, GPX4 activity can account for over a third of total GPX activity (Grim et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2012). However, in mammals GPX1 protein contains around 50% of hepatic selenoprotein

incorporated Se (Hill et al., 2012) and hepatic GPX activity is dominated by GPX1, while GPX4 may account for less than 2% of total GPX activity (Barnes et al., 2009).

So why is the GPX system dominated by GPX1 in mammals, while in fish it appears to be shared between GPX1 and GPX4? The answer may lie in the broader substrate range of GPX4. Like GPX1, GPX4 can reduce hydrophilic hydroperoxides such as H_2O_2 and free lipid peroxides, but additionally can also reduce hydrophobic hydroperoxides such as phospholipid and cholesterol hydroperoxides incorporated in cell membranes and lipoproteins (Ufer and Wang, 2011). Compared to terrestrial vertebrates, fish are high in long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, such as DHA and EPA (Douglas and Douglas, 1988; Mahaffey, 2004; Cladis et al., 2014), which in turn are sensitive to oxidation (Holman, 1954). All else being equal, this suggests a greater requirement for controlling oxidation in the hydrophobic cell membranes where PUFA are incorporated, which requires GPX4 activity. In line with this, a positive correlation is observed between GPX4 activity and the levels of unsaturated fatty acids across fish species (Grim et al., 2011).

However, like fish, birds also appear to have a shared GPX system. In turkey (*Meleagris gallopavo*) for instance, GPX4 accounts for half of the total GPX activity in liver, and around a third in muscle, testes and heart (Sunde and Hadley, 2010). The *gpx4* gene is the ancestor of all other *gpx* genes (Mariotti et al., 2012). Perhaps factor/s linked to terrestrial environments relaxed the requirements for GPX4 specifically in mammals or a mammalian ancestor after the split from the lineage leading to birds, allowing the dominance of the GPX1 in the GPX system, as observed in extant mammals today. Overall, the importance of GPX4 to the GPX system, future fish (and bird) studies should increase focus on the response of *gpx4a* (*Gpx4* in birds) mRNA expression, and GPX4 activity, in addition or in priority to the GPX1's.



Figure 9. A comparison of the proposed mammalian versus fish GPX systems under both selenium replete (top half) and deficient (bottom half) conditions using hepatocytes. Compared to mammalian cells, fish cells have elevated long chain polyunsaturated (LCPUFA; red) versus shorter chain PUFA, monounsaturated and saturated (blue) fatty acid levels. Among others, fatty acids can be membrane incorporated as phospholipids, or found in free form in the cytosol. LCPUFA are sensitive to oxidation, which if left uncontrolled will lead to a chain reaction of oxidation, disrupting the cell membrane which leads to cell death. GPX4, but not GPX1 can prevent this by reducing oxidised fatty acids in cell membranes. Both GPX1 and GPX4 isoforms can reduce hydrophilic peroxides, such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and free fatty acid hydroperoxides found in the cytosol. The presence of a more diverse range of peroxides in fish cells compared to the hydrophilic peroxide dominated environment in mammalian cells favours a fish GPX system shared between GPX1 and the multifunctional GPX4 paralogs. Under selenium deficient conditions, selenium supplies are diverted to maintaining GPX4 (GPX4b in fish) levels in both cell types. This helps to maintain cell membrane integrity and prevent cell death, at the expense of the GPX1's, (and GPX4a in fish), which may lead to elevation of hydrophilic ROS species in the cytosol. Note; the a and b paralogs of GPX1 in fish are not differentiated between due to their similar response to selenium status, in contrast to the a and b paralogs of fish GPX4.

Conclusions

- Paper I. In contrast to rodents, maximum GPX activity was found to be an inadequate biomarker for Se requirements in zebrafish, and as discussed, for fish in general. The Se requirements of juvenile zebrafish were found to be 0.3 mg Se/kg based on growth. The Se requirements were found to be higher for reproducing male adult fish (≥0.65 mg Se/kg), as indicated by the tandem increase in mating success and gonad somatic index. Although further investigation is required, yolk sac larvae, and thus indirectly the reproducing female fish, may also require dietary Se levels of ≥0.65 mg/kg.
- Paper II. As reported with other vertebrates, Se had a protective effect against MeHg-induced toxicity in adult fish. However, Se and MeHg had a synergistic negative effect on fish reproduction. This was hypothesised to be because of an elevation in Se toxicity due to the MeHg-induced increases in egg Se levels.
- 3. Paper III. Selenoproteins are overrepresented as cellular targets for MeHg induced disruption at the mRNA level, and this appears to be chiefly because of a MeHg-induced Se deficiency. A molar excess of Se to MeHg was unable to fully prevent MeHg-induced disruptions, which supports a significant role of non-selenoprotein cellular components, such as Cys containing proteins, in MeHg toxicity.

Future perspectives

As with all science, more questions were raised than answered in thesis. Several areas of research that may further understanding in the field of Se nutrition and the effect of Se status on MeHg toxicity are;

- This thesis supports a significant role of non-selenoprotein cellular components in MeHg toxicity, as a molar excess of Se to MeHg was unable to fully prevent MeHg-induced disruptions. This is probably because Cys containing proteins are also molecular targets for MeHg (Farina et al., 2012). Several species of insects which lack selenoproteins (Chapple and Guigó, 2008; Lobanov et al., 2008) provide interesting animal models to analyse the molecular mechanisms of MeHg-toxicity in the absence of Se.
- 2. While MeHg-induced Se deficiency appears to be a major factor regulating the selenotranscriptome, many selenoproteins are not regulated by Se status. However, if MeHg does induced a Se deficiency, or bind selenoproteins directly, then the functional levels of selenoproteins may be reduced regardless of effects at the selenotranscriptome level. Thus, future studies should assess the effects of MeHg on the functional selenoproteome, in particular for those critical in the developing CNS, a major target of MeHg toxicity.
- 3. The synergistic negative effect of Se and MeHg on fish reproduction warrants further investigation. Previous to this thesis, Se has been thought of mainly as an antagonist of MeHg. Human activities are increasing Se (Lemly, 2004) and Hg (Driscoll et al., 2013) levels in the biosphere on a global scale. The existence of synergistic effects of Se and MeHg on aquatic associated animals will require changes to environmental policy and management, such as considering the localised levels of both elements simultaneously. Furthermore, the interactive effect of Se and MeHg on mammalian reproduction are poorly investigated. A large percentage of the human population rely heavily on seafood as a protein source, and hence are at risk of simultaneous intakes of high Se and MeHg

levels. This in itself warrants further investigation into Se×MeHg interactions during mammalian reproduction.

4. Overall the difference in GPX systems between fish and mammals calls into question the use of total GPX activity, or the mRNA expression of the *gpx1* paralogs, to predict fish Se requirements; the methodology used in **Paper I**. Future Se status related studies in fish should consider evaluating the response of the GPX4's alongside the GPX1's, due to their apparent importance in fish. In particular GPX4a appears to be a dominant selenoprotein in fish, and perhaps should be utilised in preference to the GPX1 paralogs in studies investigating stress response to environmental factors in fish.

References

- Alvarez, M.d.C., Murphy, C.A., Rose, K.A., McCarthy, I.D., Fuiman, L.A., 2006. Maternal body burdens of methylmercury impair survival skills of offspring in Atlantic croaker (*Micropogonias undulatus*). Aquat Toxicol. 80, 329-337.
- Amlund, H., Lundebye, A.-K.K., Berntssen, M.H., 2007. Accumulation and elimination of methylmercury in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua* L.) following dietary exposure. Aquat Toxicol. 83, 323-330.
- Amores, A., Force, A., Yan, Y.-L., Joly, L., Amemiya, C., Fritz, A., Ho, R.K., Langeland, J., Prince, V., Wang, Y.-L., Westerfield, M., Ekker, M., Postlethwait, J.H., 1998. Zebrafish hox clusters and vertebrate genome evolution. Science. 282, 1711-1714.
- Amsterdam, A., Nissen, R., Sun, Z., Swindell, E., Farrington, S., Hopkins, N., 2004. Identification of 315 genes essential for early zebrafish development. P Natl Acad Sci USA. 101, 12792-12797.
- Arnér, E.S.J., 2009. Focus on mammalian thioredoxin reductases Important selenoproteins with versatile functions. BBA-Gen Subjects. 1790, 495-526.
- Asaduzzaman, A., Schreckenbach, G., 2011. Degradation mechanism of methyl mercury selenoamino acid complexes: a computational study. Inorg Chem. 50, 2366-2372.
- Atkinson, T., Halfon, M., 2014. Regulation of gene expression in the genomic context. Comput Struct Biotech J. 9.
- Ausili, A., Gabellini, M., Cammarata, G., Fattorini, D., Benedetti, M., Pisanelli, B., Gorbi, S., Regoli, F., 2008. Ecotoxicological and human health risk in a petrochemical district of southern Italy. Mar Environ Res. 66, 215-217.
- Baker, D.H., 1986. Problems and pitfalls in animal experiments designed to establish dietary requirements for essential nutrients. J Nutr. 116, 2339-2349.
- Barford, D., 2004. The role of cysteine residues as redox-sensitive regulatory switches. Curr Opin Struc Biol. 14, 679-686.
- Barnes, K., Evenson, J., Raines, A., Sunde, R., 2009. Transcript analysis of the selenoproteome indicates that dietary selenium requirements of rats based on selenium-regulated selenoprotein mRNA levels are uniformly less than those based on glutathione peroxidase activity. J Nutr. 139, 199-206.
- Berry, M., Banu, L., Larsen, P., 1991a. Type I iodothyronine deiodinase is a selenocysteine-containing enzyme. Nature. 349, 438-440.
- Berry, M., Banu, L., Chen, Y., Mandel, S., Kieffer, J., Harney, J., Larsen, P., 1991b. Recognition of UGA as a selenocysteine codon in type I deiodinase requires sequences in the 3' untranslated region. Nature. 353, 273-276.
- Berry, M.J., Ralston, N.V.C., 2008. Mercury toxicity and the mitigating role of selenium. Ecohealth. 5, 456-459.
- Berzas Nevado, J., Rodríguez Martín-Doimeadios, R., Guzmán Bernardo, F., Jiménez Moreno, M., Herculano, A., do Nascimento, J., Crespo-López, M., 2010. Mercury in the Tapajós River basin, Brazilian Amazon: a review. Eviron Int. 36, 593-608.
- Bobe, J., Labbé, C., 2010. Egg and sperm quality in fish. Gen Comp Endocr. 165, 535-548.
- Brigelius-Flohe, R., Wingler, K., Muller, C., 2002. Estimation of Individual types of Glutathione Peroxidases. Method Enzymol. 347, 101-112.
- Brigelius-Flohé, R., 1999. Tissue-specific functions of individual glutathione peroxidases. Free Radic Biol Med. 27, 951-965.
- Burk, R., 1991. Molecular biology of selenium with implications for its metabolism. FASEB J. 5, 2274-2279.
- Castellano, S., Lobanov, A., Chapple, C., Novoselov, S., Albrecht, M., Hua, D., Lescure, A., Lengauer, T., Krol, A., Gladyshev, V., Guigó, R., 2005. Diversity and functional plasticity of eukaryotic selenoproteins: identification and characterization of the SelJ family. P Natl Acad Sci USA. 102, 16188-16193.
- Chang, L.W., 1977. Neurotoxic effects of mercury. A review. Environ Res. 14, 329-373.
- Chang, L.W., Suber, R., 1982. Protective effect of selenium on methylmercury toxicity: A possible mechanism. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol. 29, 285-289.

- Chapple, C.E., Guigó, R., 2008. Relaxation of selective constraints causes independent selenoprotein extinction in insect genomes. PLoS Genet. 3.
- Cheng, W., Ho, Y., Ross, D., Han, Y., Combs, G., Lei, X., 1997. Overexpression of cellular glutathione peroxidase does not affect expression of plasma glutathione peroxidase or phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase in mice offered diets adequate or deficient in selenium. J Nutr. 127, 675-680.
- Christensen, L., Jensen, N., Vala, A., Kamarauskaite, J., Johansson, L., Winther, J., Hofmann, K., Teilum, K., Ellgaard, L., 2012. The human selenoprotein VCP-interacting membrane protein (VIMP) is non-globular and harbors a reductase function in an intrinsically disordered region. J Biol Chem. 287, 26388-26399.
- Cladis, D.P., Kleiner, A.C., Freiser, H.H., Santerre, C.R., 2014. Fatty Acid Profiles of Commercially Available Finfish Fillets in the United States. Lipids.
- Clarkson, T., Vyas, J., Ballatori, N., 2007. Mechanisms of mercury disposition in the body. Am J Ind Med. 50, 757-764.
- Cohen, G., Hochstein, P., 1963. Glutathione peroxidase: the primary agent for the elimination of hydrogen peroxide in erythrocytes. Biochemistry-US. 2, 1420-1428.
- Combs, G.F., Combs, S.B., 1986a. Selenium in foods and feeds. in: Combs, G.F., Combs, S.B. (Eds.), The role of selenium in nutrition. Academic Press Inc, New York, pp. 41-126.
- Combs, G.F., Combs, S.B., 1986b. The role of selenium in nutrition. Academic Press Inc, New York.
- Conceição, L., Aragão, C., Rønnestad, I., 2011. Proteins. in: Holt, G.J. (Ed.), Larval Fish Nutrition. Wiley-Blackwell, UK, pp. 83-116.
- Cowan, K., Diamond, M., Welch, W., 2003. Polyglutamine protein aggregation and toxicity are linked to the cellular stress response. Hum Mol Genet. 12, 1377-1391.
- Crane, M., Flower, T., Holmes, D., Watson, S., 1992. The toxicity of selenium in experimental freshwater ponds. 23, 440-452.
- Cuello, S., Ximénez-Embún, P., Ruppen, I., Schonthaler, H., Ashman, K., Madrid, Y., Luque-Garcia, J., Cámara, C., 2012. Analysis of protein expression in developmental toxicity induced by MeHg in zebrafish. Analyst. 137, 5302-5311.
- Douglas, R.T., Douglas, G.H., 1988. Fatty acid compositions of the major phosphoglycerides from fish neural tissues; (n-3) and (n-6) polyunsaturated fatty acids in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) and cod (Gadus morhua) brains and retinas.
- Driscoll, C.T., Mason, R.P., Chan, H.M., Jacob, D.J., Pirrone, N., 2013. Mercury as a global pollutant: Sources, pathways, and effects. Environ Sci Technol. 47, 4967-4983.
- Dudkiewicz, M., Szczepińska, T., Grynberg, M., Pawłowski, K., 2012. A novel protein kinase-like domain in a selenoprotein, widespread in the tree of life. Plos One. 7.
- Dumont, E., Vanhaecke, F., Cornelis, R., 2006. Selenium speciation from food source to metabolites: a critical review. Anal Bioanal Chem. 385, 1304-1323.
- Dyrssen, D., Wedborg, M., 1991. The sulfur-mercury(II) system in natural-waters. Water Air Soil Pollut. 56, 507-519.
- EFSA, N.P., 2014. Scientific Opinion on health benefits of seafood (fish and shellfish) consumption in relation to health risks associated with exposure to methylmercury. EFSA J 2014. 12, 3761 (3780 pp).
- Farina, M., Rocha, J.B.T., Aschner, M., 2011. Mechanisms of methylmercury-induced neurotoxicity: Evidence from experimental studies. Life Sci. 89, 555-563.
- Farina, M., Aschner, M., Rocha, J.B.T., 2012. Redox state in mediating methylmercury neurotoxicity. in: Ceccatelli, S., Aschner, M. (Eds.), Current topics in neurotoxicity. Springer, London, pp. 101-125.
- Farina, M., Campos, F., Vendrell, I., Berenguer, J., Barzi, M., Pons, S., Suñol, C., 2009. Probucol increases glutathione peroxidase-1 activity and displays long-lasting protection against methylmercury toxicity in cerebellar granule cells. Toxicol Sci. 112, 416-426.
- Fillion, M., Lemire, M., Philibert, A., Frenette, B., Weiler, H.A., Deguire, J.R., Guimarães, J.R.D., Larribe, F., Jr, F.B., Mergler, D., 2013. Toxic risks and nutritional benefits of traditional diet on near visual contrast sensitivity and color vision in the Brazilian Amazon. Neurotoxicology. 37, 173-181.

- Fjeld, E., Haugen, T.O., Vøllestad, L.A., 1998. Permanent impairment in the feeding behavior of grayling (*Thymallus thymallus*) exposed to methylmercury during embryogenesis. Sci Total Environ. 213, 247-254.
- Flohe, L., Günzler, W.A., Schock, H.H., 1973. Glutathione peroxidase: A selenoenzyme. FEBS Lett. 32, 132-134.
- Fomenko, D., Novoselov, S., Natarajan, S., Lee, B., Koc, A., Carlson, B., Lee, T.-H., Kim, H.-Y., Hatfield, D., Gladyshev, V., 2009. MsrB1 (methionine-R-sulfoxide reductase 1) knock-out mice: roles of MsrB1 in redox regulation and identification of a novel selenoprotein form. J Biol Chem. 284, 5986-5993.
- Ganther, H.E., Goudie, C., Sunde, M.L., Kopecky, M.J., Wagner, P., Sang-Hwan, O.H., Hoekstra, W.G., 1972. Selenium: Relation to decreased toxicity of methylmercury added to diets containing tuna. Science. 175, 1122-1124.
- Gatlin, D.M., III, Wilson, R.P., 1984. Dietary selenium requirement of fingerling channel catfish. J Nutr. 114, 627-633.
- Gilbert, H., 1990. Molecular and cellular aspects of thiol-disulfide exchange. Adv Enzymol Ramb. 63, 69-172.
- Gladyshev, V., Jeang, K., Stadtman, T., 1996. Selenocysteine, identified as the penultimate C-terminal residue in human T-cell thioredoxin reductase, corresponds to TGA in the human placental gene. P Natl Acad Sci USA. 93, 6146-6151.
- Glaser, V., Leipnitz, G., Straliotto, M.R., Oliveira, J., dos Santos, V.V., Wannmacher, C.M., de Bem, A.F., Rocha, J.B., Farina, M., Latini, A., 2010. Oxidative stress-mediated inhibition of brain creatine kinase activity by methylmercury. Neurotoxicology. 31, 454-460.
- Gough, D.R., Cotter, T.G., 2011. Hydrogen peroxide: a Jekyll and Hyde signalling molecule. Cell Death Dis. 2.
- Grim, J.M., Hyndman, K.A., Kriska, T., Girotti, A.W., Crockett, E.L., 2011. Relationship between oxidizable fatty acid content and level of antioxidant glutathione peroxidases in marine fish. J Exp Biol. 214, 3751-3759.
- Gromer, S., Johansson, L., Bauer, H., Arscott, L., Rauch, S., Ballou, D., Williams, C., Schirmer, R., Arnér, E., 2003. Active sites of thioredoxin reductases: why selenoproteins? P Natl Acad Sci USA. 100, 12618-12623.
- Gross, M., Oertel, M., Kohrle, J., 1995. Differential selenium dependent expression of Type-I 5'deiodinase and glutathione peroxidase in the porcine epithelial kidney cell line Llc-Pk1. Biochem J. 306, 851-856.
- Grumolato, L., Ghzili, H., Montero-Hadjadje, M., Gasman, S., Lesage, J., Tanguy, Y., Galas, L., Ait-Ali, D., Leprince, J., Guérineau, N., Elkahloun, A., Fournier, A., Vieau, D., Vaudry, H., Anouar, Y., 2008. Selenoprotein T is a PACAP-regulated gene involved in intracellular Ca2+ mobilization and neuroendocrine secretion. FASEB J. 22, 1756-1768.
- Hachiya, N., 2012. Epidemiological update of methylmercury and Minimata Disease. in: Ceccatelli, S., Aschner, M. (Eds.), Current topics in neurotoxicity. Springer, London.
- Hafeman, D., Sunde, R., Hoekstra, W., 1974. Effect of dietary selenium on erythrocyte and liver glutathione peroxidase in the rat. J Nutr. 104, 580-587.
- Hammerschmidt, C.R., Sandheinrich, M.B., Wiener, J.G., Rada, R.G., 2002. Effects of dietary methylmercury on reproduction of fathead minnows. Environ Sci Technol. 36, 877-883.
- Han, D., Xie, S., Liu, M., Xiao, X., Liu, H., Zhu, X., Yang, Y., 2011. The effects of dietary selenium on growth performances, oxidative stress and tissue selenium concentration of gibel carp (*Carassius auratus gibelio*). Aquaculture Nutr. 17, e741-e749.
- Harada, M., 1995. Minamata disease: methylmercury poisoning in Japan caused by environmental pollution. Crit Rev Toxicol. 25, 1-24.
- Harris, H.H., Pickering, I.J., George, G.N., 2003. The chemical form of mercury in fish. Science. 301, 1203.
- Hassan, S., Moussa, E., Abbott, L., 2012. The effect of methylmercury exposure on early central nervous system development in the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) embryo. J Appl Toxicol. 32, 707-713.
- Heinz, G.H., Hoffman, D.J., 1998. Methylmercury chloride and selenomethionine interactions on health and reproduction in mallards. Environ Sci Technol. 17, 139-145.

- Heinz, G.H., Hoffman, D.J., Klimstra, J.D., Stebbins, K.R., 2010. Enhanced reproduction in mallards fed a low level of methylmercury: An apparent case of hormesis. Environ Toxicol Chem. 29, 650-653.
- Hill, K., Wu, S., Motley, A., Stevenson, T., Winfrey, V., Capecchi, M., Atkins, J., Burk, R., 2012. Production of selenoprotein P (Sepp1) by hepatocytes is central to selenium homeostasis. J Biol Chem. 287, 40414-40424.
- Hilton, J.W., Hodson, P.V., Slinger, S.J., 1980. The requirement and toxicity of selenium in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). J Nutr. 110, 2527-2535.
- Hirota, Y., Yamaguchi, S., Shimojoh, N., Sano, K., 1980. Inhibitory effect of methylmercury on the activity of glutathione peroxidase. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 53, 174-176.
- Ho, N., Yang, L., Legradi, J., Armant, O., Takamiya, M., Rastegar, S., Strähle, U., 2013. Gene responses in the central nervous system of zebrafish embryos exposed to the neurotoxicant methyl mercury. Environ Sci Technol. 47, 3316-3325.
- Hodson, P., Hilton, J., 1983. The nutritional requirements and toxicity to fish of dietary and waterborne selenium. Ecol Bull.
- Hoffmeyer, R., Singh, S., Doonan, C., Ross, A., Hughes, R., Pickering, I., George, G., 2006. Molecular mimicry in mercury toxicology. Chem Res Toxicol. 19, 753-759.
- Holman, R.T., 1954. Autoxidation of fats and related substances. Prog Lipid Res.
- Horibata, Y., Hirabayashi, Y., 2007. Identification and characterization of human ethanolaminephosphotransferase1. J Lipid Res. 48, 503-508.
- Huber, R.E., Criddle, R.S., 1967. Comparison of the chemical properties of selenocysteine and selenocystine with their sulfur analogs. 122, 164-173.
- Hussey, N.E., Sundkvist, E., Svineng, G., 2009. Glutathione and sulfur containing amino acids: antioxidant and conjugation activities. in: Masella, R., Mazza, G. (Eds.), Glutathione and Sulfur Containing Amino Acids in Human Health and Disease. Wiley, Hoboken, NJ.
- Iwata, H., Masukawa, T., Kito, H., Hayashi, M., 1982. Degradation of methylmercury by selenium. Life Sci. 31, 859-866.
- Janz, D.M., 2011. Selenium. in: Chris M. Wood, A.P.F., Colin, J.B. (Eds.), Fish Physiology Academic Press, San Diego, CA, USA, pp. 327-374.
- Janz, D.M., DeForest, D.K., Brooks, M.L., Chapman, P.M., Gilron, G., Hoff, D., Hopkins, W.D., McIntyre, D.O., Mebane, C.A., Palace, V.P., Skorupa, J.P., Wayland, M., 2010. Selenium toxicity to aquatic organisms. in: Chapman, P.M., Adams, W.J., Brooks, M.L., Delos, C.G., Luoma, S.N., Maher, W.A., Ohlendorf, H.M., Presser, T.S. and Shaw, D.P. (Ed.), Ecological Assessment of Selenium in the Aquatic Environment. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp. 141-231.
- Jardine, D., Litvak, M.K., 2003. Direct yolk sac volume manipulation of zebrafish embryos and the relationship between offspring size and yolk sac volume. J Fish Biol. 63, 388-397.
- Johansson, C., Castoldi, A.F., Onishchenko, N., Manzo, L., Vahter, M., Ceccatelli, S., 2007. Neurobehavioural and molecular changes induced by methylmercury exposure during development. Neurotox Res. 11, 241-260.
- Kahn, P., 1994. Zebrafish hit the big time. Science. 264, 904-905.
- Kamler, E., 2008. Resource allocation in yolk-feeding fish. Rev Fish Biol Fisher. 18, 143-200.
- Karagas, M., Choi, A., Oken, E., Horvat, M., Schoeny, R., Kamai, E., Cowell, W., Grandjean, P., Korrick, S., 2012. Evidence on the human health effects of low-level methylmercury exposure. Environ Health Perspect. 120, 799-806.
- Kasaikina, M., Fomenko, D., Labunskyy, V., Lachke, S., Qiu, W., Moncaster, J., Zhang, J., Wojnarowicz, M., Natarajan, S., Malinouski, M., Schweizer, U., Tsuji, P., Carlson, B., Maas, R., Lou, M., Goldstein, L., Hatfield, D., Gladyshev, V., 2011. Roles of the 15-kDa selenoprotein (Sep15) in redox homeostasis and cataract development revealed by the analysis of Sep 15 knockout mice. J Biol Chem. 286, 33203-33212.
- Kaur, P., Aschner, M., Syversen, T., 2012. Methylmercury neurotoxicity: Why are some cells more vulnerable than others? in: Ceccatelli, S., Aschner, M. (Eds.), Current topics in neurotoxicity. Springer, London, pp. 241-258.
- Kerper, L., Ballatori, N., Clarkson, T., 1992. Methylmercury transport across the blood-brain barrier by an amino acid carrier. Am J Physiol. 262, 5.

- Kettleborough, R.N., Busch-Nentwich, E.M., Harvey, S.A., Dooley, C.M., de Bruijn, E., van Eeden, F., Sealy, I., White, R.J., Herd, C., Nijman, I.J., Fényes, F., Mehroke, S., Scahill, C., Gibbons, R., Wali, N., Carruthers, S., Hall, A., Yen, J., Cuppen, E., Stemple, D.L., 2013. A systematic genome-wide analysis of zebrafish protein-coding gene function. Nature. 496, 494-497.
- Kidd, K., Batchelar, K., 2011. Mercury. in: Chris M. Wood, A.P.F., Colin, J.B. (Eds.), Fish Physiology. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, USA, pp. 237-295.
- Kim, Y.-J., Chai, Y.-G., Ryu, J.-C., 2005. Selenoprotein W as molecular target of methylmercury in human neuronal cells is down-regulated by GSH depletion. Biochem Bioph Res Co. 330, 1095-1102.
- Kimmel, C.B., Ballard, W.W., Kimmel, S.R., Ullmann, B., Schilling, T.F., 1995. Stages of embryonic development of the zebrafish. Dev Dynam. 203, 253-310.
- Kinjo, Y., Higashi, H., Nakano, A., Sakamoto, M., Sakai, R., 1993. Profile of subjective complaints and activities of daily living among current patients with Minamata disease after 3 decades. Environ Res. 63, 241-251.
- Kryukov, G.V., Castellano, S., Novoselov, S.V., Lobanov, A.V., Zehtab, O., Guigó, R., Gladyshev, V.N., 2003. Characterization of mammalian selenoproteomes. Science. 300, 1439-1443.
- Lemes, M., Wang, F.Y., 2009. Methylmercury speciation in fish muscle by HPLC-ICP-MS following enzymatic hydrolysis. J Anal Atom Spectrom. 24, 663-668.
- Lemire, M., Fillion, M., Frenette, B., Passos, C.J.S., Guimarães, J.R.D., Barbosa, F., Mergler, D., 2011. Selenium from dietary sources and motor functions in the Brazilian Amazon. Neurotoxicology. 32, 944-953.
- Lemly, A.D., 1997. A teratogenic deformity index for evaluating impacts of selenium on fish populations. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 37, 259-266.
- Lemly, A.D., 2004. Aquatic selenium pollution is a global environmental safety issue. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 59, 44-56.
- Lin, Y.H., Shiau, S.Y., 2005. Dietary selenium requirements of juvenile grouper, *Epinephelus malabaricus*. Aquaculture. 250, 356-363.
- Liu, K., Wang, X.J., Ai, Q.H., Mai, K.S., Zhang, W.B., 2010. Dietary selenium requirement for juvenile cobia, *Rachycentron canadum* L. Aquaculture Res. 41, e594-e601.
- Lobanov, A., Hatfield, D., Gladyshev, V., 2008. Selenoproteinless animals: selenophosphate synthetase SPS1 functions in a pathway unrelated to selenocysteine biosynthesis. Protein Sci. 17, 176-182.
- Mahaffey, K., 2004. Fish and shellfish as dietary sources of methylmercury and the omega-3 fatty acids, eicosahexaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid: risks and benefits. Environ Res. 95, 414-428.
- Maquat, L., 2005. Nonsense-mediated mRNA decay in mammals. J Cell Sci. 118, 1773-1776.
- Mariotti, M., Ridge, P.G., Zhang, Y., Lobanov, A.V., Pringle, T.H., Guigo, R., Hatfield, D.L., Gladyshev, V.N., 2012. Composition and evolution of the vertebrate and mammalian selenoproteomes. Plos One. 7, e33066.
- Marsili, A., Aguayo-Mazzucato, C., Chen, T., Kumar, A., Chung, M., Lunsford, E., Harney, J., Van-Tran, T., Gianetti, E., Ramadan, W., Chou, C., Bonner-Weir, S., Larsen, P., Silva, J., Zavacki, A., 2011. Mice with a targeted deletion of the type 2 deiodinase are insulin resistant and susceptible to diet induced obesity. PLoS One. 6.
- Masukawa, T., Kito, H., Hayashi, M., Iwata, H., 1982. Formation and possible role of bis(methylmercuric) selenide in rats treated with methylmercury and selenite. Biochem Pharmacol. 31, 75-78.
- McAlpine, D., Araki, S., 1958. Minamata Disease an unusual neurological disorder caused by contaminated fish. Lancet. 272, 629-631.
- Meyer, A., Schartl, M., 1999. Gene and genome duplications in vertebrates: the one-to-four (-to-eight in fish) rule and the evolution of novel gene functions. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 11, 699-704.
- Mills, G., 1957. Hemoglobin catabolism. I. Glutathione peroxidase, an erythrocyte enzyme which protects hemoglobin from oxidative breakdown. J Biol Chem. 229, 189-197.
- Moghadaszadeh, B., Beggs, A., 2006. Selenoproteins and their impact on human health through diverse physiological pathways. Physiology. 21, 307-315.

- Moriarty, P., Reddy, C., Maquat, L., 1998. Selenium deficiency reduces the abundance of mRNA for Se-dependent glutathione peroxidase 1 by a UGA-dependent mechanism likely to be nonsense codon-mediated decay of cytoplasmic mRNA. Mol Cell Biol. 18, 2932-2939.
- Murata, K., Weihe, P., Budtz-Jørgensen, E., Jørgensen, P., Grandjean, P., 2004. Delayed brainstem auditory evoked potential latencies in 14-year-old children exposed to methylmercury. J Pediatr. 144, 177-183.
- Nauser, T., Steinmann, D., Grassi, G., Koppenol, W.H., 2014. Why selenocysteine replaces cysteine in thioredoxin reductase: a radical hypothesis. Biochemistry-US. 53, 5017-5022.
- Newland, M.C., Paletz, E.M., Reed, M.N., 2008. Methylmercury and nutrition: Adult effects of fetal exposure in experimental models. Neurotoxicology. 29, 783-801.
- Nobuhiro, M., Megumi, Y., Eri, T., Tomoharu, Y., Naoko, M., Masanori, S., Teruo, M., 2012. Comparison of in vivo with in vitro pharmacokinetics of mercury between methylmercury chloride and methylmercury cysteine using rats and Caco2 cells. Arch Environ Con Tox. 63.
- Novoselov, S., Hua, D., Lobanov, A., Gladyshev, V., 2006. Identification and characterization of Fep15, a new selenocysteine-containing member of the Sep15 protein family. Biochem J. 394, 575-579.
- Novoselov, S.V., Kryukov, G.V., Xu, X.-M., Carlson, B.A., Hatfield, D.L., Gladyshev, V.N., 2007. Selenoprotein H is a nucleolar thioredoxin-like protein with a unique expression pattern. J Biol Chem. 282, 11960-11968.
- NRC, 1995. Nutrient Requirements of Laboratory Animals. in: Council, N.R. (Ed.). National Academy Press, Washington, DC.
- Nuttall, K.L., 1987. A model for metal selenide formation under biological conditions. Med Hypotheses. 24, 217-221.
- Olson, G.E., Whitin, J.C., Hill, K.E., Winfrey, V.P., Motley, A.K., Austin, L.M., Deal, J., Cohen, H.J., Burk, R.F., 2010. Extracellular glutathione peroxidase (Gpx3) binds specifically to basement membranes of mouse renal cortex tubule cells. Am J Physiol-Renal. 298, 53.
- Osborne, J.W., 2010. Improving your data transformations: Applying the Box-Cox transformation. As R E. 15.
- Pacitti, D., Wang, T., Page, M., Martin, S., Sweetman, J., Feldmann, J., Secombes, C., 2013. Characterization of cytosolic glutathione peroxidase and phospholipid-hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase genes in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and their modulation by in vitro selenium exposure. Aquat Toxicol. 130-131, 97-111.
- Palace, V.P., Spallholz, J.E., Holm, J., Wautier, K., Evans, R.E., Baron, C.L., 2004. Metabolism of selenomethionine by rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) embryos can generate oxidative stress. Ecotox Environ Safe. 58, 17-21.
- Pan, Q., Saltzman, A., Kim, Y., Misquitta, C., Shai, O., Maquat, L., Frey, B., Blencowe, B., 2006. Quantitative microarray profiling provides evidence against widespread coupling of alternative splicing with nonsense-mediated mRNA decay to control gene expression. Gene Dev. 20, 153-158.
- Papp, L.V., Lu, J., Holmgren, A., Khanna, K.K., 2007. From selenium to selenoproteins: synthesis, identity, and their role in human health. Antioxid Redox Signal. 9, 775-806.
- Penglase, S., Moren, M., Hamre, K., 2012. Lab animals: Standardize the diet for zebrafish model. Nature. 491, 333.
- Petit, N., Lescure, A., Rederstorff, M., Krol, A., Moghadaszadeh, B., Wewer, U., Guicheney, P., 2003. Selenoprotein N: an endoplasmic reticulum glycoprotein with an early developmental expression pattern. Hum Mol Genet. 12, 1045-1053.
- Pfeifer, H., Conrad, M., Roethlein, D., Kyriakopoulos, A., Brielmeier, M., Bornkamm, G.W., Behne, D., 2001. Identification of a specific sperm nuclei selenoenzyme necessary for protamine thiol cross-linking during sperm maturation. FASEB J. 15, 1236-1238.
- Pitts, M., Reeves, M., Hashimoto, A., Ogawa, A., Kremer, P., Seale, L., Berry, M., 2013. Deletion of selenoprotein M leads to obesity without cognitive deficits. J Biol Chem. 288, 26121-26134.
- Polatajko, A., Jakubowski, N., Szpunar, J., 2006. State of the art report of selenium speciation in biological samples. J Anal At Spectrom. 21, 639-654.

- Prasad, P., Wang, H., Huang, W., Kekuda, R., Rajan, D., Leibach, F., Ganapathy, V., 1999. Human LAT1, a subunit of system L amino acid transporter: molecular cloning and transport function. Biochem Bioph Res Co. 255, 283-288.
- Ralston, N.V.C., Azenkeng, A., Raymond, L.J., 2012. Mercury-dependent inhibition of selenoenzymes and mercury toxicity. in: Ceccatelli, S., Aschner, M. (Eds.), Current topics in neurotoxicity. Springer, London, pp. 91-99.
- Ralston, N.V.C., Ralston, C.R., Blackwell Iii, J.L., Raymond, L.J., 2008. Dietary and tissue selenium in relation to methylmercury toxicity. Neurotoxicology. 29, 802-811.
- Rayman, M.P., 2012. Selenium and human health. Lancet. 379, 1256-1268.
- Rebbapragada, I., Lykke-Andersen, J., 2009. Execution of nonsense-mediated mRNA decay: what defines a substrate? Curr Opin Cell Biol. 21, 394-402.
- Rhee, S.G., Chae, H.Z., Kim, K., 2005. Peroxiredoxins: A historical overview and speculative preview of novel mechanisms and emerging concepts in cell signaling. Free Radical Bio Med.
- Rice, D., 2000. Identification of functional domains affected by developmental exposure to methylmercury: Faroe islands and related studies. Neurotoxicology. 21, 1039-1044.
- Rocher, C., Lalanne, J., Chaudière, J., 1992. Purification and properties of a recombinant sulfur analog of murine selenium-glutathione peroxidase. Eur J Biochem. 205, 955-960.
- Rossier, G., Meier, C., Bauch, C., Summa, V., Sordat, B., Verrey, F., Kühn, L., 1999. LAT2, a new basolateral 4F2hc/CD98-associated amino acid transporter of kidney and intestine. J Biol Chem. 274, 34948-34954.
- Rotruck, J.T., Pope, A.L., Ganther, H.E., Swanson, A.B., Hafeman, D.G., Hoekstra, W.G., 1973. Selenium: biochemical role as a component of glutathione peroxidase. Science. 179, 588-590.
- Saguna, V., FuKun, W.H., Mukesh, K., Zhi, H., Kelsey, R., Elizabeth, N.-W., Ann, S.H., Peter, R.H., 2011. Selenoprotein K Knockout Mice Exhibit Deficient Calcium Flux in Immune Cells and Impaired Immune Responses.
- Schwarz, K., Foltz, C.M., 1957. Selenium as an integral part of factor 3 against dietary necrotic liver degeneration. J Agric Food Chem. 79, 3292-3293.
- Schweizer, U., Schomburg, L., Savaskan, N., 2004. The neurobiology of selenium: lessons from transgenic mice. J Nutr. 134, 707-710.
- Shchedrina, V., Novoselov, S., Malinouski, M., Gladyshev, V., 2007. Identification and characterization of a selenoprotein family containing a diselenide bond in a redox motif. P Natl Acad Sci USA. 104, 13919-13924.
- Shchedrina, V., Everley, R., Zhang, Y., Gygi, S., Hatfield, D., Gladyshev, V., 2011. Selenoprotein K binds multiprotein complexes and is involved in the regulation of endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis. J Biol Chem. 286, 42937-42948.
- Sheehan, M., Burke, T., Navas-Acien, A., Breysse, P., McGready, J., Fox, M., 2014. Global methylmercury exposure from seafood consumption and risk of developmental neurotoxicity: a systematic review. B World Health Organ. 92, 254.
- Simmons-Willis, T.A., Koh, A.S., Clarkson, T.W., Ballatori, N., 2002. Transport of a neurotoxicant by molecular mimicry: The methylmercury-L-cysteine complex is a substrate for human Ltype large neutral amino acid transporter (LAT) 1 and LAT2. Biochem J. 367, 239-246.
- Skjærven, K.H., Penglase, S., Olsvik, P.A., Hamre, K., 2013. Redox regulation in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) embryos developing under normal and heat-stressed conditions. Free Radical Bio Med. 57, 29-38.
- Smith, J., Farris, F., 1996. Methyl mercury pharmacokinetics in man: a reevaluation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 137, 245-252.
- Smith, L.E., Carvan Iii, M.J., Dellinger, J.A., Ghorai, J.K., White, D.B., Williams, F.E., Weber, D.N., 2010. Developmental selenomethionine and methylmercury exposures affect zebrafish learning. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 32, 246-255.
- Spallholz, J.E., 1994. On the nature of selenium toxicity and carcinostatic activity. Free Radic Biol Med. 17, 45-64.
- Spallholz, J.E., Palace, V.P., Reid, T.W., 2004. Methioninase and selenomethionine but not Semethylselenocysteine generate methylselenol and superoxide in an in vitro chemiluminescent assay: implications for the nutritional carcinostatic activity of selenoamino acids. Biochem Pharmacol. 67, 547-554.

- Stoytcheva, Z.R., Berry, M.J., 2009. Transcriptional regulation of mammalian selenoprotein expression. BBA-Gen Subjects. 1790, 1429-1440.
- Sugiura, Y., Tamai, Y., Tanaka, H., 1978. Selenium protection against mercury toxicity: high binding affinity of methylmercury by selenium-containing ligands in comparison with sulfurcontaining ligands. Bioinorgan Chem. 9, 167-180.
- Sunde, R.A., Hadley, K.B., 2010. Phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase (Gpx4) is highly regulated in male turkey poults and can be used to determine dietary selenium requirements. Exp Biol M. 235, 23-31.
- Sunde, R.A., Raines, A.M., 2011. Selenium regulation of the selenoprotein and nonselenoprotein transcriptomes in rodents. Adv Nutr Res. 2, 138-150.
- Suzuki, T., Yonemoto, J., Satoh, H., Naganuma, A., Imura, N., Kigawa, T., 1984. Normal organic and inorganic mercury levels in the human feto-placental system. J Appl Toxicol. 4, 249-252.
- Tamura, T., Stadtman, T., 1996. A new selenoprotein from human lung adenocarcinoma cells: purification, properties, and thioredoxin reductase activity. P Natl Acad Sci USA. 93, 1006-1011.
- Thisse, C., Degrave, A., Kryukov, G.V., Gladyshev, V.N., Obrecht-Pflumio, S., Krol, A., Thisse, B., Lescure, A., 2003. Spatial and temporal expression patterns of selenoprotein genes during embryogenesis in zebrafish. Gene Expr Patterns. 3, 525-532.
- Thomson, C.D., 2004. Assessment of requirements for selenium and adequacy of selenium status: a review. 58, 391-402.
- Timme-Laragy, A., Goldstone, J., Imhoff, B., Stegeman, J., Hahn, M., Hansen, J., 2013. Glutathione redox dynamics and expression of glutathione-related genes in the developing embryo. Free Radical Bio Med. 65, 89-101.
- Todeschini, A.-L., Georges, A., Veitia, R., 2014. Transcription factors: specific DNA binding and specific gene regulation. Trends Genet. 30, 211-219.
- Ufer, C., Wang, C., 2011. The roles of glutathione peroxidases during embryo development. Front Mol Neurosci. 4, 12.
- Ursini, F., Maiorino, M., Gregolin, C., 1985. The selenoenzyme phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase. Biochim Biophys Acta. 839, 62-70.
- Ursini, F., Heim, S., Kiess, M., Maiorino, M., Roveri, A., Wissing, J., Flohe, L., 1999. Dual function of the selenoprotein PHGPx during sperm maturation. Science. 285, 1393-1396.
- Usami, M., Ohno, Y., 1996. Teratogenic effects of selenium compounds on cultured postimplantation rat embryos. Teratogen Carcin Mut. 16, 27-36.
- Usuki, F., Yamashita, A., Fujimura, M., 2011. Post-transcriptional defects of antioxidant selenoenzymes cause oxidative stress under methylmercury exposure. J Biol Chem. 286, 6641-6649.
- Vendeland, S., Beilstein, M., Chen, C., Jensen, O., Barofsky, E., Whanger, P., 1993. Purification and properties of selenoprotein W from rat muscle. J Biol Chem. 268, 17103-17107.
- Waagbø, R., Espe, M., Hamre, K., Lie, Ø., 2001. Fiskeenæring (In Norwegian). Kystnæringen forlag & bokklubb, Oslo, Norway.
- Wagemann, R., Trebacz, E., Boila, G., Lockhart, W., 1998. Methylmercury and total mercury in tissues of arctic marine mammals. Sci Total Environ. 218, 19-31.
- Wang, L., Harris, S.M., Espinoza, H.M., McClain, V., Gallagher, E.P., 2012. Characterization of phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione metabolizing peroxidase (gpx4) isoforms in Coho salmon olfactory and liver tissues and their modulation by cadmium. Aquat Toxicol. 114-115, 134-141.
- Wang, P.-F., Flynn, A., Naor, M., Jensen, J., Cui, G., Merz, K., Kenyon, G., McLeish, M., 2006. Exploring the role of the active site cysteine in human muscle creatine kinase. Biochem. 45, 11464-11472.
- Waschulewski, I.H., Sunde, R.A., 1988. Effect of dietary methionine on utilization of tissue selenium from dietary selenomethionine for glutathione peroxidase in the rat. J Nutr. 118, 367-374.
- Watanabe, C., Yoshida, K., Kasanuma, Y., Kun, Y., Satoh, H., 1999. In utero methylmercury exposure differentially affects the activities of selenoenzymes in the fetal mouse brain. Environ Res. 80, 208-214.

- Weber, D.N., Connaughton, V.P., Dellinger, J.A., Klemer, D., Udvadia, A., Carvan Iii, M.J., 2008. Selenomethionine reduces visual deficits due to developmental methylmercury exposures. Physiol Behav. 93, 250-260.
- Weerapana, E., Wang, C., Simon, G., Richter, F., Khare, S., Dillon, M., Bachovchin, D., Mowen, K., Baker, D., Cravatt, B., 2010. Quantitative reactivity profiling predicts functional cysteines in proteomes. Nature. 468, 790-795.
- Weiss Sachdev, S., Sunde, R., 2001. Selenium regulation of transcript abundance and translational efficiency of glutathione peroxidase-1 and -4 in rat liver. Biochem J. 357, 851-858.
- Weiss, S.L., Evenson, J.K., Thompson, K.M., Sunde, R.A., 1996. The selenium requirement for glutathione peroxidase mRNA level is half of the selenium requirement for glutathione peroxidase activity in female rats. J Nutr. 126, 2260-2267.
- Weiss, S.L., Evenson, J.K., Thompson, K.M., Sunde, R.A., 1997. Dietary selenium regulation of glutathione peroxidase mRNA and other selenium-dependent parameters in male rats. J Nutr Biochem. 8, 85-91.
- Whanger, P.D., 2009. Selenoprotein expression and function--Selenoprotein W. BBA-Gen Subjects. 1790, 1448-1452.
- WHO, 2010. Ten chemicals of major public health concern. in: Environment, P.H.a. (Ed.). World Health Organisation, Geneva, Switzerland, pp. 1-4.
- Wijngaarden, E.V., Myers, G.J., Shamlaye, C.F., Strain, J.J., Davidson, P.W., 2012. The impact of prenatal exposure to methylmercury and maternal nutritional status on child development: Findings from the Seychelles child development study. in: Ceccatelli, S., Aschner, M. (Eds.), Current topics in neurotoxicity. Springer, London, pp. 37-53.
- Wirth, E., Conrad, M., Winterer, J., Wozny, C., Carlson, B., Roth, S., Schmitz, D., Bornkamm, G., Coppola, V., Tessarollo, L., Schomburg, L., Köhrle, J., Hatfield, D., Schweizer, U., 2010. Neuronal selenoprotein expression is required for interneuron development and prevents seizures and neurodegeneration. FASEB J. 24, 844-852.
- Wu, G., Ott, T.L., Knabe, D.A., Bazer, F.W., 1999. Amino acid composition of the fetal pig. J Nutr. 129, 1031-1038.
- Yang, L., Kemadjou, J., Zinsmeister, C., Bauer, M., Legradi, J., Müller, F., Pankratz, M., Jäkel, J., Strähle, U., 2007. Transcriptional profiling reveals barcode-like toxicogenomic responses in the zebrafish embryo. Genome Biol. 8.
- Zayas, Z., Ouerdane, L., Mounicou, S., Lobinski, R., Monperrus, M., Amouroux, D., 2014. Hemoglobin as a major binding protein for methylmercury in white-sided dolphin liver. Anal Bioanal Chem. 406, 1121-1129.
- Zheng, W., Xu, H., Lam, S.H., Luo, H., Karuturi, R.K., Gong, Z., 2013. Transcriptomic analyses of sexual dimorphism of the zebrafish liver and the effect of sex hormones. Plos One. 8.

Supplementary material

1.1 Supplementary material background

In Paper III, we hypothesised that selenogenes downregulated by MeHg were done so as a secondary effect of a MeHg-induced Se deficiency. To test this hypothesis, the response of selenogenes to changes in Se status were analysed in zebrafish embryos. These embryos were obtained from parents fed diets ranging from deficient to replete from the experiment described in **Paper I**. Briefly, adult zebrafish (Wild type AB strain) were fed yeast/casein based semi-purified diets. The four diets had graded levels of Se containing yeast (Se-yeast, Sel-Plex® 2000, 2000 mg Se/kg, Alltech, Lexington, KY, USA), and contained 0.09, 0.30, 0.50 or 0.65 mg Se/kg DM, and resulted in embryos with 0.34 \pm 0.04, 0.61 \pm $0.10, 0.97 \pm 0.37$ and 1.13 ± 0.13 mg Se/kg DM, respectively (**Paper I**, Supp. Table 8). These dietary Se levels were deemed in Paper I to range from deficient to adequate for zebrafish. The Hg levels in these diets were below the limit of quantification (<0.005 mg Hg/kg DM). These embryos were maintained until \approx 48 hpf in petri dishes at 28.5 °C as described in **Paper I**, under identical conditions to those utilised in **Paper III**. These embryos were analysed at the same stage (48 hpf), with an identical method (RT-qPCR with identical primers), and for the same 30 selenogenes and two non-selenogenes, as described in **Paper III**. The data were analysed with multiple regression in Graphpad Prism (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA, V. 6.02). Data were first normalised with Box-Cox (Osborne, 2010) and then tested against the null hypothesis that parental dietary Se concentrations had no effect on outcome (horizontal line), or if first or second order polymomial curves explained the response more adequately. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM, n=2-3. Each replicate consisted of embryos obtained from a single pairwise cross, with the 0.09 and 0.3 mg Se/kg groups having 2n, and the other groups 3n, equalling a total of 10 observations. Differences among regression models were considered significant at p<0.05.

1.2 Supplementary results and discussion

The majority of the selenogenes (25 out of 30), and the two non selenogenes (*trnaulapa* and *trnaulapb*) did not respond to changes in Se status (Supp. Fig. 2). Three selenogenes had positive linear responses (p<0.05) to Se status; *gpx3*, *gpx4a* and *sepw1*; while a fourth; *sepw2a*; demonstrated a similar response but only as a statistical trend (p=0.08, Supp. Fig 1). One selenogene; *gpx4b*; had a negative linear response to Se status as a statistical trend (p=0.09, Supp. Fig 1). The mammalian orthologs for selenogenes regulated by Se status in zebrafish embryos are all from antioxidant families (Papp et al., 2007). Mammalian *Gpx3* and *Sepw1*, but not *Gpx4* mRNA are downregulated by sub optimal Se status (Sunde and Raines, 2011), while *sepw2a* is relatively uncharacterised and not found

in mammals (Mariotti et al., 2012). Three of the four selenogenes downregulated by Se deficiency; *gpx4a, sepw1* and *sepw2a*; were also downregulated by MeHg (**Paper III**). These genes were also rescued from MeHg-induced downregulation by elevated Se (**Paper III**). Thus, the effect of Se deficiency on the selenotranscriptome had similiarities with the effect of MeHg on the selenotranscriptome. However, overall a greater number of selenogenes were affected by MeHg. It may be that MeHg induced a greater Se deficiency (**Paper III**) than the low Se group (0.09 mg Se/kg) in this experiment. For instance there was a seven to one molar excess of Hg to Se in the embryos from the (-)Se/(+)Hg group (**Paper III**), which may have resulted in large amounts of Se being bound in non-bioavailable MeHg:Se complexes (as discussed in **Paper III**), and overall less bioavailable Se than in the 0.09 mg Se/kg group in the current experiment. It is also unknown why several selenogenes that responded to Se status in juvenile fish; *gpx1a, gpx1b* and *sepp1a*, **Paper I**; did not respond to Se status in zebrafish embryos. It is possible that other factors were stronger regulators, such as developmental transcription factors, than Se status in zebrafish embryos. In line with the discussion in this thesis (section 3.44), *gpx4a* was the most responsive selenogene to Se status.



Supp. Figure 1. Expression of selenoprotein genes that responded to Se status. Mean normalised mRNA expressions of selenogenes; gpx3 (A), gpx4a (B), gpx4b (C), sepw1 (D) and sepw2a (E); that were up or down-regulated in 48 hpf zebrafish embryos as parental dietary Se levels increased. Data are mean \pm SEM (n=2-3) where each replicate is a pool of embryos spawned from a single pairwise mating. Lines represent best fit models of data after Box Cox transformation (Linear regression, R²; graph A = 0.42; B = 0.62; D = 0.61, p<0.05; C = 0.32; E = 0.34; p=0.05 - 0.10; equations shown in figures).





Supp. Fig. 2 Continued next page



Supp. Figure 2. Expression of selenoprotein (and *trnauplap*) genes that did not respond to Se status. Mean normalised mRNA expressions of selenogenes (and the *trnauplap* paralogs) in 48 hpf zebrafish embryos that did not respond as parental dietary Se levels increased. Data are mean \pm SEM (n=2-3) where each replicate is a pool of embryos spawned from a single pairwise mating. Data were tested with regression analysis using the data mean, lines represent best fit models of data (Horizontal line; Se status had no effect on gene expression).